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For the years ended December 31 2020 2019
$ $

Revenues (note 7)  8,803.9  8,916.1 

Personnel costs  5,221.8  5,177.2 
Subconsultants and direct costs  1,944.8  2,029.8 
Other operational costs  606.1  703.3 
Depreciation of right-of-use assets (note 17)  268.3  241.7 
Amortization of intangible assets (note 19)  104.7  110.7 
Depreciation of property and equipment (note 18)  103.3  101.0 
Impairment of property & equipment and goodwill (notes 18 and 20)  —  29.0 
Acquisition, integration and restructuring costs (note 10)  103.4  54.2 
Exchange loss (gain)  10.3  (6.3) 
Share of income of associates and joint ventures, net of tax  (18.2)  (12.3) 
Earnings before net financing expense and income taxes  459.4  487.8 
Net financing expense (note 11)  73.5  102.0 
Earnings before income taxes  385.9  385.8 
Income tax expense (note 12)  108.5  100.1 
Net earnings  277.4  285.7 
Net earnings attributable to:

Shareholders of WSP Global Inc.  276.0  286.5 
Non-controlling interests  1.4  (0.8) 

 277.4  285.7 

Basic net earnings per share attributable to shareholders 2.51 2.72
Diluted net earnings per share attributable to shareholders 2.50 2.71

Basic weighted average number of shares 110,020,798 105,235,267
Diluted weighted average number of shares 110,263,100 105,613,623

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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For the years ended December 31 2020 2019
$ $

Net earnings  277.4  285.7 

Other comprehensive income (loss)

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to net earnings
Currency translation adjustments  25.8  (179.1) 

Translation adjustments on financial instruments designated as net investment 
hedge  (6.2)  61.3 
Income tax recovery  1.1  1.6 

Items that will not be reclassified to net earnings
Actuarial loss on pension schemes  (30.4)  (39.1) 
Exchange differences  (1.0)  1.1 
Income tax recovery  6.8  8.5 

Total comprehensive income for the period  273.5  140.0 

Comprehensive income (loss) attributable to:
Shareholders of WSP Global Inc.  272.1  140.8 
Non-controlling interests  1.4  (0.8) 

 273.5  140.0 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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As at December 31 2020 2019
$ $

Assets
Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents (note 28)  437.1  255.6 

Trade receivables and other receivables (note 14)  1,598.8  1,767.8 

Cost and anticipated profits in excess of billings  (note 15)  950.5  995.7 

Other financial assets (note 16)  118.1  114.5 

Prepaid expenses  168.7  104.2 

 Income taxes receivable  27.5  18.8 
 3,300.7  3,256.6 

Non-current assets

Right-of-use assets (note 17)  894.3  913.4 

Property and equipment (note 18)  314.9  347.7 

Intangible assets (note 19)  275.5  355.4 

Goodwill (note 20)  3,731.9  3,568.8 

Deferred income tax assets (note 12)  169.2  145.8 

Other assets (note 21)  150.9  88.4 

 5,536.7  5,419.5 

Total assets  8,837.4  8,676.1 

Liabilities
Current liabilities

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (note 22)  1,718.2  1,650.7 

Billings in excess of costs and anticipated profits (note 15)  708.5  629.0 

Income taxes payable  119.1  125.3 

Provisions (note 23)  71.4  71.8 

Dividends payable to shareholders (note 27)  42.5  39.7 

Current portion of lease liabilities (note 17)  233.1  211.7 

Current portion of long-term debt (note 24)  296.9  307.8 
 3,189.7  3,036.0 

Non-current liabilities

Long-term debt (note 24)  277.3  1,091.9 

Lease liabilities (note 17)  785.3  838.9 

Provisions (note 23)  180.9  72.8 

Retirement benefit obligations (note 9)  232.4  213.4 

Deferred income tax liabilities (note 12)  90.4  91.2 
 1,566.3  2,308.2 

Total liabilities  4,756.0  5,344.2 

Equity
Equity attributable to shareholders of WSP Global Inc.  4,080.4  3,330.8 
Non-controlling interests  1.0  1.1 

Total equity  4,081.4  3,331.9 

Total liabilities and equity  8,837.4  8,676.1 

Approved by the Board of Directors

(signed) Alexandre L'Heureux Director (signed)  Louis-Philippe Carrière Director

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these  consolidated financial statements. 
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Attributable to Shareholders of WSP Global Inc.

Share 
capital

Contributed 
surplus

Retained 
earnings

Accumulated 
other 

comprehensive 
income Total 

Non-
controlling 

interests
Total 

equity

$ $ $ $ $ $ $

Balance - January 1, 2020  2,752.2  204.6  303.4  70.6  3,330.8  1.1  3,331.9 
Comprehensive income
Net earnings  —  —  276.0  —  276.0  1.4  277.4 

Actuarial loss on pension schemes, 
net of tax  —  —  —  (24.6)  (24.6)  —  (24.6) 

Currency translation adjustments, 
net of tax  —  —  —  26.9  26.9  —  26.9 

Net investment hedge, net of tax  —  —  —  (6.2)  (6.2)  —  (6.2) 
Total comprehensive income  —  —  276.0  (3.9)  272.1  1.4  273.5 

Common shares issued via public 
offerings and private placements 
(note 25)  563.2  —  —  — 563.2  —  563.2 

Common shares issued under the 
DRIP (note 25)  76.1  —  —  —  76.1  —  76.1 
Exercise of stock options (note 25)  2.7  (0.5)  —  —  2.2  —  2.2 
Stock-based compensation expense  —  3.2  —  —  3.2  —  3.2 

Declared dividends to shareholders 
of WSP Global Inc.  —  —  (167.2)  —  (167.2)  —  (167.2) 

Dividends to non-controlling 
interests  —  —  —  —  —  (0.6)  (0.6) 

Disposal of a business with non-
controlling interests  —  —  —  —  —  (0.9)  (0.9) 

 642.0  2.7  (167.2)  —  477.5  (1.5)  476.0 
Balance - December 31, 2020  3,394.2  207.3  412.2  66.7  4,080.4  1.0  4,081.4 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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Attributable to Shareholders of WSP Global Inc.

Share 
capital

Contributed 
surplus

Retained 
earnings

Accumulated 
other 

comprehensive 
income Total 

Non-
controlling 

interests
Total 

equity

$ $ $ $ $ $ $

Balance - January 1, 2019  2,656.5  204.9  181.3  216.3  3,259.0  0.7  3,259.7 
Comprehensive income
Net earnings  —  —  286.5  —  286.5  (0.8)  285.7 

Actuarial loss on pension schemes, 
net of tax  —  —  —  (29.5)  (29.5)  —  (29.5) 

Currency translation adjustments, 
net of tax  —  —  —  (160.3)  (160.3)  —  (160.3) 

Net investment hedge, net of tax  —  —  —  44.1  44.1  —  44.1 
Total comprehensive income  —  —  286.5  (145.7)  140.8  (0.8)  140.0 

Common shares issued under the 
DRIP (note 25)  79.9  —  —  —  79.9  —  79.9 
Exercise of stock options (note 25)  15.8  (2.5)  —  —  13.3  —  13.3 
Stock-based compensation expense  —  2.2  —  —  2.2  —  2.2 

Declared dividends to shareholders 
of WSP Global Inc.  —  —  (158.0)  —  (158.0)  —  (158.0) 

Non-controlling interests on 
acquisition of subsidiary  —  —  —  —  —  1.0  1.0 

Dividends to non-controlling 
interests  —  —  —  —  —  (6.2)  (6.2) 

Purchase of non-controlling 
interests  —  —  (6.4)  —  (6.4)  6.4  — 

 95.7  (0.3)  (164.4)  —  (69.0)  1.2  (67.8) 
Balance - December 31, 2019  2,752.2  204.6  303.4  70.6  3,330.8  1.1  3,331.9 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 

WSP GLOBAL INC. 12

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

(in millions of Canadian dollars)

WSP Global Inc.
Consolidated Financial Statements

Annual Report - 2020



For the years ended December 31 2020 2019
$ $

Operating activities
Net earnings  277.4  285.7 
Adjustments  (note 28)  416.7  435.4 
Net financing expense (note 11)  73.5  102.0 
Income tax expense (note 12)  108.5  100.1 
Income taxes paid  (104.5)  (79.8) 
Change in non-cash working capital items (note 28)  353.5  (29.1) 
Cash inflows from operating activities  1,125.1  814.3 

Financing activities
Net repayment of long-term debt  (857.1)  (96.6) 
Issuance of common shares, net of issuance costs (note 25)  550.8  13.3 
Lease payments  (301.3)  (260.7) 
Net financing expenses paid, excluding interest on lease liabilities  (49.8)  (69.0) 
Dividends paid to shareholders of WSP Global Inc.  (88.3)  (77.6) 
Dividends paid to a non-controlling interest  (0.6)  (6.2) 
Cash outflows from financing activities  (746.3)  (496.8) 

Investing activities
Net disbursements related to business acquisitions  (124.4)  (220.9) 
Additions to property and equipment, excluding business acquisitions  (72.1)  (122.4) 
Additions to identifiable intangible assets, excluding business acquisitions  (21.0)  (26.6) 
Dividends received from associates  19.4  10.8 
Net proceeds from disposal of businesses  8.2  — 
Proceeds from disposal of property and equipment  4.6  11.7 
Lease incentives received  —  25.3 
Cash outflows from investing activities  (185.3)  (322.1) 
Effect of exchange rate change on cash and cash equivalents  3.9  (12.0) 
Change in net cash and cash equivalents  197.4  (16.6) 
Cash and cash equivalents, net of bank overdraft – beginning of year  237.3  253.9 
Cash and cash equivalents, net of bank overdraft - end of the year (note 28)  434.7  237.3 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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1 BASIS OF PRESENTATION
WSP Global Inc., together with its subsidiaries, (the “Corporation” or “WSP”) is a professional services consulting firm which 
provides technical expertise and strategic advice to clients in the transportation & infrastructure, property & buildings, 
environment, resources (including mining and oil and gas), energy and industry sectors. The Corporation also offers highly 
specialized services in project and program delivery and advisory services. The address of its main registered office is 
1600 René-Lévesque Blvd West, Montreal, Quebec, Canada.

The common shares of the Corporation are listed under the trading symbol "WSP" on the Toronto Stock Exchange (“TSX”). 

STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in compliance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
("IFRS") as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”). These financial statements were prepared on a 
going concern basis, on a historical cost basis, except for certain financial assets and liabilities (including investments in 
securities and derivative instruments), liabilities for share unit plans, and contingent consideration, which are measured at 
fair value, and defined benefit liabilities, which are measured as the net total of the present value of the defined benefit 
obligations minus the fair value of plan assets. 

These financial statements were approved by the Corporation’s Board of Directors on February 24, 2021.

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these consolidated financial 
statements, unless otherwise stated in note 3, Accounting policy developments.

CONSOLIDATION, JOINT ARRANGEMENTS AND ASSOCIATES

These consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Corporation and its subsidiaries.

Non-controlling interests represent equity interests in subsidiaries owned by outside parties. The share of net assets of 
subsidiaries, attributable to non-controlling interests, is disclosed as a component of equity. Their share of net earnings and 
comprehensive income is recognized directly in equity. Changes in the parent Corporation’s ownership interest in 
subsidiaries that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions.

SUBSIDIARIES

Subsidiaries are all entities over which the Corporation has control. The Corporation controls an entity when the 
Corporation is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect 
those returns through its power over the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is 
obtained by the Corporation.  They are deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.  

Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealized gains and losses on transactions between the Corporation's companies 
are eliminated. When necessary, amounts reported by subsidiaries have been adjusted to conform to the Corporation’s 
accounting policies.
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The table below lists the Corporation's most significant subsidiaries for each fiscal year ended December 31, based on 
revenues. The Corporation held 100% of the interest in all the subsidiaries listed below.

2020 2019

Entity
Country of 
incorporation Entity

Country of 
incorporation

WSP USA Inc. US WSP USA Inc. US
WSP UK Ltd UK WSP USA Buildings Inc. US
WSP Sverige AB Sweden WSP USA Services Inc US
WSP Canada Inc Canada WSP Michigan Inc. US
WSP Australia Pty Ltd Australia WSP UK Ltd UK
WSP New Zealand Ltd New Zealand WSP Canada Inc Canada
WSP USA Buildings Inc. US WSP Sverige AB Sweden
WSP USA Solutions Inc. US WSP Australia Pty Ltd Australia

Louis Berger US US
Louis Berger Group Inc US

JOINT ARRANGEMENTS 

Joint arrangements are classified as either joint operations or joint ventures. The determination of whether an arrangement 
is a joint operation or joint venture is based on the rights and obligations arising from the contractual obligations between 
the parties to the arrangement. Joint arrangements that provide the Corporation with the rights to the individual assets and 
obligations arising from the arrangement are classified as joint operations and joint arrangements that provide the 
Corporation with rights to the net assets of the arrangement are classified as joint ventures.

The interests in joint operations are recognized by the Corporation by recording its share of the assets, liabilities, revenues, 
costs and cash flows using the most recent financial statements of these joint operations.

The interests in joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method and included in other assets in the statements of 
financial position. The carrying amount of investments in joint ventures is tested for impairment as described below under 
the caption "Impairment of long-lived assets".

ASSOCIATES

Associates are all entities over which the Corporation has significant influence but not control or joint control. Investments 
in associates are accounted for using the equity method and included in other assets in the statements of financial position. 
The carrying amount of investments in associates is tested for impairment as described below under the caption 
"Impairment of long-lived assets".

FOREIGN CURRENCY 

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars, which is the Corporation’s functional currency.

Items included in the financial statements of each of the Corporation's subsidiaries are measured using the currency of the 
primary economic environment in which the entity operates (i.e. the functional currency). Foreign currency transactions are 
translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Foreign 
exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation of monetary assets 
and liabilities not denominated in the functional currency of an entity are recognized in net earnings, except when deferred 
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in other comprehensive income as qualifying for net investment hedges. Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to 
borrowings and cash are disclosed within finance expenses.

Assets and liabilities of entities with functional currencies other than the Canadian dollar are translated at the period-end 
rates of exchange, and the results of their operations are translated at average rates of exchange for the period. The resulting 
changes are recognized in accumulated other comprehensive income in equity as currency translation adjustments.

SEGMENT REPORTING

Segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision-maker. 
The chief operating decision-maker is responsible for allocating resources and assessing the performance of the reportable 
segments and has been identified as the global leadership team ("GLT"). The Corporation is managed through four reportable 
segments: Canada, Americas (USA and Latin America), EMEIA (Europe, Middle East, India and Africa) and APAC (Asia Pacific – 
comprising Asia, Australia and New Zealand).

REVENUE RECOGNITION

The Corporation derives revenues from the delivery of engineering services. If the Corporation has recognized revenues, but 
not issued an invoice, then the entitlement to consideration is recognized as a contract asset presented as costs and 
anticipated profits in excess of billings on the Corporation’s consolidated statement of financial position. The contract asset 
is transferred to trade receivables when the invoice is issued indicating that the entitlement to payment has become 
unconditional. If payments are received, or invoices are issued to a customer, prior to the rendering of services, the 
Corporation recognizes a contract liability under the caption billings in excess of costs and anticipated profits on the 
Corporation’s consolidated statement of financial position. The contract liability is transferred to revenues once related 
services have been rendered.

Revenues are measured based on the consideration specified in a contract with a customer. The Corporation typically 
recognizes revenues over time, using an input measure, as it fulfills its performance obligations in line with contracted 
terms.

A performance obligation is a promise in the contract to transfer a distinct good or service to the customer. A contract’s 
transaction price is allocated to each distinct performance obligation and recognized as revenues when, or as, the 
performance obligations are satisfied. Most of the Corporation’s contracts have a single performance obligation as the 
promise to transfer individual goods or services is not separately identifiable from other promises in the contracts and, 
therefore, not distinct. Any modifications or variations to contracts in progress are assessed to determine if they fall under 
the scope of the existing contract performance obligation or form part of a new performance obligation.

The Corporation's revenues are derived mainly from three types of contracts, which are described below, and the 
Corporation disaggregates its revenues by market sector and client category, as described below.

Revenues (and profits) from cost-plus contracts with ceilings and from fixed-price contracts are recognized progressively 
based on a percentage-of-completion method, whereby the percentage of revenues earned to date is estimated using an 
input measure, usually as the ratio of contract costs incurred to date to total estimated costs.

Revenues (and profits) from cost-plus contracts without stated ceilings are recognized when costs are incurred and are 
calculated based on billing rates for the services performed.

Certain costs incurred by the Corporation for subconsultants and other expenses are recoverable directly from customers 
and are billed to them. These charges are included in revenues and costs (under the caption subconsultants and direct costs) 
when the Corporation controls the goods or services before they are transferred to the customer. The value of goods and 
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services purchased by the Corporation, when acting as a purchasing agent for a customer, are not recorded as revenues and 
costs.

The effect of revisions to estimated revenues and costs, including the impact from any modifications or variations to 
contracts in progress, are recorded when they represent enforceable rights of the Corporation and amounts can be 
reasonably estimated. These revisions can occur at any time and could be significant. Where total estimated contract costs 
exceed total estimated contract revenues, the expected loss is recognized as an expense immediately via a provision for 
losses to completion, irrespective of the stage of completion and based on a best estimate of forecast results including, where 
appropriate, rights to additional income or compensation (e.g. award or incentive fees).

The Corporation's main market sectors, as disclosed in note 7, Revenues, are: Transportation & Infrastructure, Property & 
Buildings, Environment, Resources (including mining, oil and gas), Power & Energy and Industry.

The Corporation's main client categories are public and private sector clients. Revenues generated from contracts where the 
end user of services provided is identified to be a public sector entity are classified as public sector revenues. Entities 
controlled by any branch of government would be considered public sector entities. Revenues generated from contracts 
where the end user of services provided is not identified as a public sector entity are classified as private sector revenues.

Revenues are shown net of value-added tax and after eliminating sales within the Corporation.

PERSONNEL COSTS

Personnel costs include various payroll costs relating to the delivery of consulting services and projects and administrative 
salaries, such as finance, information technologies, human resources and communications.

SUBCONSULTANTS AND DIRECT COSTS

Subconsultants and direct costs include subconsultant costs and other direct costs incurred to deliver consulting services 
and that are recoverable directly from clients.

OTHER OPERATIONAL COSTS

Other operational costs include but are not limited to fixed costs, such as non-recoverable client services costs, technology 
costs, professional services costs and insurance.

ACQUISITION, INTEGRATION AND RESTRUCTURING COSTS

Acquisition, integration and restructuring costs include, among others, the following costs, if and when incurred:
• Transaction costs related to business acquisitions, successful or not;
• Costs of integrating newly acquired businesses following the date of acquisition;
• Gains or losses on disposals of non-core assets;
• IT outsourcing program costs pertaining mainly to non-recurring redundancy and transition costs resulting from 

the outsourcing of the Corporation's IT infrastructure and operations support;
• Restructuring costs; and
• Severance costs stemming from adjustments to cost structures.

The above list may be adjusted, from time to time, when it is deemed appropriate to highlight other items under this caption 
to assist users in understanding the financial performance of the Corporation.
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LEASE ACCOUNTING

The Corporation leases various office premises and equipment under lease agreements.  Lease terms are negotiated on an 
individual basis, contain a wide range of terms and conditions and usually can be renewed at market rates. 

The majority of leases are recognized as right-of-use assets, with a corresponding liability at the date at which the leased 
asset is available for use by the Corporation. Lease payments are allocated between the liability and finance cost. The finance 
cost is charged to the statement of earnings over the lease period using the effective interest rate method. The right-of-use 
asset is depreciated over the shorter of the asset's useful life and the lease term on a straight-line basis. Lease extension and 
termination options are included in the lease term only when it is reasonably certain that the Corporation will exercise the 
option.

Liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured on a present value basis. Right-of-use assets are measured at cost 
comprising the following:

• the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability; 
• any lease payments made at or before the commencement date, less any lease incentives received; 
• any initial direct costs; and
• any obligations to incur restoration costs.

Lease liabilities include the net present value of the following lease payments:
• fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments and fixed payments for any extension options included in 

the lease term), less any lease incentives receivable; 
• variable lease payments that are based on an index or a rate;
• amounts expected to be payable by the Corporation under residual value guarantees; 
• the exercise price of a purchase option if the Corporation is reasonably certain to exercise that option; and 
• payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the Corporation exercising that option.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily determined, 
the relevant incremental borrowing rate. 

Payments associated with short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are recognized on a straight-line basis as an 
expense in the Corporation’s statement of earnings. Short-term leases have a lease term of twelve months or less. Low-value 
asset leases comprise mostly computer equipment and small items of office furniture.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

CLASSIFICATION AND MEASUREMENT

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially recognized at fair value, and their subsequent measurements are 
dependent on their classification. Financial assets are classified and measured at amortized cost or fair value through profit 
or loss ("FVTPL") based on how the Corporation manages the financial instruments and the contractual cash flow 
characteristics of the financial asset.
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The table below summarizes the classification and measurement of the Corporation’s financial instruments:

Financial assets

Cash and restricted cash Amortized cost
Trade receivables, other receivables, amounts due from joint ventures and associates Amortized cost
Investments in securities FVTPL
Derivatives FVTPL

Financial liabilities

Accounts payables and accrued liabilities Amortized cost
Dividends payable to shareholders Amortized cost
Borrowings under credit facility and bank overdrafts Amortized cost
Consideration payable related to business acquisitions Amortized cost or FVTPL
Derivatives FVTPL

Financial assets and liabilities classified as amortized cost are subsequently measured using the effective interest rate 
method less any impairment loss.

Changes in fair value are recorded in net financing expenses in the statement of earnings.

Financial liabilities are derecognized when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged, canceled or expired. 

EXPECTED CREDIT LOSSES

The Corporation applies the simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses for all trade receivables and contract 
assets (costs and anticipated profits in excess of billings). Therefore, the Corporation does not track changes in credit risk, 
but instead recognizes a loss allowance at an amount equal to the lifetime expected credit losses at each reporting date. The 
factors that the Corporation considers to classify trade receivables as credit-impaired are as follows: the customer is in 
bankruptcy or under administration, payments are in dispute, or payments are past due.

To measure the expected credit losses, trade receivables and contract assets have been grouped based on shared credit risk 
characteristics. The contract assets, which are costs and anticipated profits in excess of billings, have substantially all the 
same risk characteristics as the trade receivables for the same types of contracts.  The Corporation has therefore concluded 
that the expected loss rates for trade receivables are a reasonable approximation of the loss rates for the contract assets.

The Corporation considers a financial asset in default when contractual payments are between 0-60 days past due, depending 
on the various economic and asset-specific factors, or if it becomes probable that a customer will enter bankruptcy. A 
financial or contract asset is written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.

DEFERRED FINANCING FEES

Deferred financing fees are capitalized and amortized over the expected life of the credit facility agreement.

DETERMINATION OF FAIR VALUE

The fair value of a financial instrument is the amount of consideration that would be agreed to be received to sell an asset or 
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. Subsequent to 
initial recognition, the fair values of financial instruments that are quoted in active markets are based on bid prices for 
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financial assets held and offer prices for financial liabilities. When independent prices are not available, fair values are 
determined by using valuation techniques that refer to observable market inputs and minimizing the use of unobservable 
inputs.

OFFSETTING FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the statements of financial position when 
there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognized amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis or 
realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND HEDGING ACTIVITIES

Derivatives are initially recognized at fair value on the date a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently 
re‑measured at their fair value. The method of recognizing the resulting gain or loss depends on whether the derivative is 
designated as a hedging instrument, and if so, the nature of the item being hedged. The Corporation designates certain 
derivatives as either:
(a) hedges of the fair value of recognized assets and liabilities or a firm commitment (fair value hedge);
(b) hedges of a particular risk associated with a recognized asset or liability or a highly probable forecast transaction     

(cash flow hedge); or
(c) hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation (net investment hedge).

The Corporation documents at the inception of the transaction the relationship between hedging instruments and hedged 
items, as well as its risk management objectives and strategy for undertaking various hedging transactions. The Corporation 
also documents its assessment, both at hedge inception and on an on-going basis, of whether the derivatives that are used in 
hedging transactions are highly effective in offsetting changes in fair values or cash flows of hedged items.

Upon adoption of IFRS 9 - Financial Instruments, as at January 1, 2018, the Corporation had elected to continue to use the 
criteria of IAS 39 - Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement for hedge accounting. Given the Corporation's recent 
hedging activities, Management has determined that the application of hedge accounting criteria in IFRS 9 results in reliable 
and more relevant information about the effects of hedge transactions on the Corporation's financial performance. This 
change has been applied prospectively as at January 1, 2020, given retrospective application would not have a material 
impact on the Corporation's financial position as at January 1, 2020.

Fair value hedge

Changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as fair value hedges are recorded in net earnings 
together with any changes in the fair value of the hedged asset or liability that are attributable to the hedged risk.  

Cash flow hedge

The effective portion of the change in the fair value of the derivatives that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges is 
recognized in other comprehensive income. The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is recognized immediately in 
net earnings.

Amounts accumulated in equity are reclassified to profit or loss in the periods when the hedged item affects profit or loss. 
However, when a forecasted transaction that is hedged results in the recognition of a non-financial asset, the gains and 
losses previously deferred in equity are transferred from equity and included in the initial measurement of the cost of the 
asset.

When a hedging instrument expires or is sold, or when a hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, any 
cumulative gain or loss existing in equity at that time remains in equity and is recognized when the forecasted transaction is 
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ultimately recognized in net earnings. When a forecasted transaction is no longer expected to occur, the cumulative gain or 
loss that was reported in equity is immediately transferred to net earnings.

Net investment hedge

Hedges of net investments in foreign operations are accounted for similarly to cash flow hedges.

Any gain or loss on the hedging instrument relating to the effective portion of the hedge is recognized in other 
comprehensive income. The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is recognized in net earnings.

Gains and losses accumulated in equity are transferred to net earnings if a foreign operation is disposed of, partially or in its 
entirety.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand and with banks and short-term deposits with a maturity of three months 
or less at the date of acquisition, which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. For the purposes of the cash 
flow statement, cash and cash equivalents are net of bank overdraft.

TRADE RECEIVABLES

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for the rendering of services in the ordinary course of business. Trade 
receivables are classified as current assets if payment is due within one year or less. Trade receivables are recognized initially 
at fair value and subsequently measured at amortized cost, less allowance for expected credit losses.

INVESTMENTS IN SECURITIES

Investments in securities are accounted for at fair value with unrealized gains or losses recognized in net earnings. 
Investments in securities are included in other financial assets.

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Property and equipment are recorded at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. 
Historical cost includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount when it is probable that future economic benefits associated 
with the item will flow to the Corporation and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs and 
maintenance costs are charged to net earnings during the period in which they are incurred.

Land is not depreciated. Depreciation on other assets is calculated using the methods described below to allocate their cost to 
their residual values over their estimated useful lives. The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation methods 
are reviewed at each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimates accounted for on a prospective basis.

The following table summarizes the depreciation methods, rates and periods used: 

Category Method Rate or period

Buildings Straight-line or declining balance 25 - 50 years or 2% to 4%
Leasehold improvements Straight-line Shorter of lease term or useful life
Furniture and equipment Straight-line or declining balance 3 to 10 years
Computer equipment Straight-line or declining balance 3 to 8 years
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The gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of property and equipment is determined as the difference 
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognized in net earnings within other operational 
costs.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Intangible assets consist of software, customer relationships, contract backlogs and trade names. Intangible assets acquired 
in business acquisitions are recognized separately from goodwill and are initially recognized at their fair value as at the 
acquisition date. Intangible assets are carried at cost less accumulated amortization and accumulated impairment losses. 

Software, contract backlogs, customer relationships and certain trade names are considered intangible assets with finite 
useful lives. Based on the strength, long history and expected future use, certain trade names are indefinite-lived intangible 
assets. The useful life of intangible assets that are not being amortized is reviewed each reporting period to determine 
whether events and circumstances continue to support an indefinite useful life assessment. If not, the change in the 
assessment from indefinite to finite will be accounted for as a change in accounting estimate.

Intangible assets are amortized on a straight-line basis over the following periods:

Category Period
Software 3 to 7 years
Contract backlogs 1 to 9 years
Customer relationships 2 to 14 years
Finite-lived trade names 3 to 8 years

IMPAIRMENT OF LONG-LIVED ASSETS

Long-lived assets with finite useful lives are reviewed for impairment when events or circumstances indicate that the 
carrying amount may not be recoverable. Indefinite-lived assets are not subject to amortization but are tested for 
impairment on an annual basis as at the first day of the Corporation's fourth quarter, or more frequently if events or 
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable. Impairment exists when the recoverable amount of 
an asset is less than its carrying value. The recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s fair value less costs to sell 
("FVLCS") and value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there 
are separately identifiable cash flows (a cash-generating unit or “CGU”). The amount of impairment loss, if any, is the excess 
of the carrying value over its recoverable amount. Assets other than goodwill that have suffered impairment are reviewed 
for indicators of possible reversal of the impairment at each reporting date.

GOODWILL

Goodwill represents the excess of the consideration transferred for the acquired businesses over the estimated fair value at 
the acquisition date of net identifiable assets acquired. Goodwill is not subject to amortization and is carried at cost less 
accumulated impairment loss but is tested for impairment on an annual basis or more frequently if events or circumstances 
indicate that it might be impaired. 

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to each CGU or group of CGUs expected to benefit from the 
synergies of the combination. CGUs to which goodwill has been allocated are tested for impairment annually as at the first 
day of the Corporation's fourth quarter, or more frequently if events or circumstances indicate that the carrying value may 
not be recoverable. If the higher of the CGU's FVLCS or value in use is less than its carrying amount, the impairment loss is 
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the CGU and then to the other assets of the CGU 
pro rata on the basis of the carrying amount of each asset. An impairment loss recognized for goodwill cannot be reversed in 
a subsequent period. 
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TRADE PAYABLES

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services that have been acquired in the ordinary course of business. Trade 
payables are classified as current liabilities if payment is due within one year or less. Trade payables are recognized initially 
at fair value and subsequently measured at amortized cost.

PROVISIONS

Provisions represent liabilities of the Corporation for which the amount or timing is uncertain. Provisions are recognized 
when the Corporation has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, it is probable that an outflow 
of resources will be required to settle the obligation and the amount can be reliably estimated. Provisions are not recognized 
for future operating losses. When the Corporation expects some or all of a provision to be reimbursed, for example, under an 
insurance contract, and when the reimbursement is virtually certain, the expected reimbursement is recognized as a 
separate asset. The expense relating to any provision is presented in the consolidated statements of earnings, net of any 
reimbursement receivable recognized. Provisions are measured at the present value of the expected expenditures to settle 
the obligation, including legal fees, using a discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money 
and the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision due to passage of time is recognized as interest expense.

LONG-TERM INCENTIVE PLANS (“LTIPs”)

The Corporation has in place LTIPs for key management personnel under which stock options, cash-settled performance 
share units (“PSUs”), cash-settled deferred share units ("DSUs") and cash-settled restricted share units ("RSUs") have been 
and can be issued.  Stock options, PSUs and RSUs vest over time in accordance with the terms of the grant. DSUs vest when 
granted.  The cash-settled LTIP instruments (PSUs, DSUs and RSUs) are measured at fair value based on the Corporation's 
share price at the end of each reporting period and recorded in current and non-current liabilities, over the vesting period. 
Stock options are valued at fair value using a Black-Scholes pricing model at grant date and recorded in contributed surplus 
over the vesting period.

INCOME TAXES

Income taxes are recognized in net earnings except to the extent that it relates to a business combination, or items 
recognized in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax expense is the expected tax payable or receivable on taxable income or loss for the period, calculated using tax 
rates and laws that were enacted or substantively enacted for the reporting period. It may also include adjustments for prior 
periods.

The Corporation follows the liability method when accounting for income taxes. Under this method, deferred income tax 
assets and liabilities are recognized for the expected future tax consequences attributable to temporary differences between 
the financial statement carrying values of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases. This approach also 
requires the recording of deferred income tax assets related to operating losses and tax credit carry forwards. Deferred 
income tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted or substantively enacted income tax rates applicable when 
temporary differences and carry forwards are expected to be recovered or settled. Deferred income taxes are not recognized 
for the initial recognition of goodwill, the initial recognition of assets or liabilities that affects neither accounting nor taxable 
profit or loss, and temporary differences related to investments in subsidiaries and joint ventures where the Corporation 
controls the reversal of the temporary difference and reversal is not expected in the foreseeable future.

Deferred income tax assets for unused tax loss carry forwards and deductible temporary differences are only recognized 
when it is probable that there will be future taxable profits against which the assets can be utilized. Deferred income tax 
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assets are reviewed at each reporting period and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax 
benefit will be realized.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are classified as non-current. They are offset when there is a legally enforceable 
right to offset current tax assets against current tax liabilities and they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation 
authority on either the same taxable entity or different entities where there is an intention to settle the balance on a net 
basis.

As tax legislation is complex and subject to interpretation, in determining current and deferred income taxes, the 
Corporation takes into account the impact of uncertain tax positions and whether additional taxes and penalties may be due. 
The Corporation values uncertain income tax positions based on the probability of whether tax authorities with full 
knowledge of all relevant information will accept the company's tax treatments. This assessment, based on judgment, 
requires estimates and assumptions considering facts and circumstances existing as at the reporting period. Estimates are 
reviewed each reporting period and updated, based on new information available.

GOVERNMENT GRANTS AND INVESTMENT TAX CREDITS (ITCs)

Government grants and ITCs are recognized where there is reasonable assurance that the grant or ITCs will be received and 
all attached conditions will be complied with. 

Government grants intended to compensate an expense item are recognized in net earnings on a systematic basis over the 
periods that the related costs are expensed. During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Corporation recorded 
$53.0 million of government subsidies, recognized in personnel costs (nil in 2019). There are no unfulfilled conditions or 
contingencies attached to these grants as at December 31, 2020.

ITCs are subject to examination and approval by regulating authorities, and, therefore, the amounts granted may differ from 
those recorded.  ITCs determined to be earned by the Corporation are recorded as a reduction of the operating expenses 
incurred.

PENSION SCHEMES

The Corporation maintains a number of defined contribution schemes and contributions are charged to net earnings in the 
period in which they are due. 

In addition, the Corporation operates defined benefit schemes which require contributions to be made to separately 
administered funds. The cost of providing benefits under defined benefit schemes is determined separately for each scheme 
using the projected unit credit actuarial valuation method. Current service costs, past service costs, curtailment costs and 
settlement costs along with interest costs which are based on a notional charge based on scheme liabilities during the year, 
less expected returns on scheme assets, are charged to net earnings. Actuarial gains and losses are fully recognized in equity 
through other comprehensive income as they arise. The consolidated statement of financial position reflects the schemes’ 
surplus or deficit as at the consolidated statement of financial position date.

SHARE CAPITAL

Issuance costs directly attributable to the issuance of shares are recognized as a deduction from equity, net of income tax 
effects.
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DIVIDENDS 

Dividends on common shares of WSP Global Inc. are recognized in the Corporation’s consolidated financial statements in the 
period in which the dividends are declared.

EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic earnings per share are determined using the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the period.

Diluted earnings per share are determined using the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the period, plus 
the effects of dilutive potential shares outstanding during the period. The calculation of diluted earnings per share follows 
the treasury stock method.

3 ACCOUNTING POLICY DEVELOPMENTS
NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARDS EFFECTIVE IN 2020

The following amendments to existing standards have been adopted by the Corporation on January 1, 2020 and had no 
significant impact on the Corporation’s consolidated financial statements.

DEFINITION OF A BUSINESS

Amendments to IFRS 3 - Business Combinations help entities determine whether an acquired set of activities should be 
accounted for as a business combination or an asset acquisition. The amended definition of a business requires a business 
acquisition to include an input and a substantive process that together significantly contribute to the ability to create 
outputs. The definition of outputs is amended to focus on goods and services provided to customers, generating investment 
income and other income, and it excludes returns in the form of lower costs and other economic benefits. 

DEFINITION OF MATERIAL

Amendments to IAS 1 - Presentation of Financial Statements and IAS 8 - Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and 
Errors align the definition of "material" across the standards and to clarify certain aspects of the definition. The new 
definition states that, "Information is material if omitting, misstating or obscuring it could reasonably be expected to 
influence decisions that the primary users of general purpose financial statements make on the basis of those financial 
statements, which provide financial information about a specific reporting entity." The concept of “obscuring” material 
information with immaterial information has been included as part of the new definition. 

INTEREST RATE BENCHMARK REFORM - PHASE 1

Amendments to IFRS 9 - Financial Instruments, IAS 39 - Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, and IFRS 7 - Financial 
Instruments: Disclosures address the uncertainty arising from the phasing out of interest-rate benchmarks such as interbank 
offered rates (“IBORs”). The amendments provide temporary relief from applying specific hedge accounting requirements to 
hedging relationships directly affected by IBOR reform and require certain related disclosures. 
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RECENT STANDARDS, AMENDMENTS AND INTERPRETATIONS NOT YET 
EFFECTIVE AND NOT APPLIED

CLASSIFICATION OF LIABILITIES AS CURRENT OR NON-CURRENT

In January 2020, IASB issued a narrow-scope amendment to IAS 1 - Presentation of Financial Statements, which clarifies that the 
classification of liabilities as current or non-current is based on rights that are in existence at the end of the reporting 
period. Classification is unaffected by expectations about whether an entity will exercise its right to defer settlement of a 
liability or events after the reporting date. The amendment also clarifies what IAS 1 means when it refers to the ‘settlement’ 
of a liability. The amendment is effective for the Corporation's annual reporting period beginning on January 1, 2023, with 
earlier application permitted. The Corporation is assessing the potential impact of these amendments.

INTEREST RATE BENCHMARK REFORM - PHASE 2

In August 2020, the IASB issued Phase 2 amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16 to address issues that arise 
from the implementation of the interest rate benchmark reforms, including the replacement of one benchmark with an 
alternative one. The Phase 2 amendments require an entity to prospectively cease to apply the Phase 1 reliefs to a non 
contractually specified risk component at the earlier of when changes are made to the non contractually specified risk 
component, or when the hedging relationship is discontinued. No end date was provided in the Phase 1 amendments for risk 
components. The Phase 2 amendments provide additional temporary reliefs from applying specific IAS 39 and IFRS 9 hedge 
accounting requirements to hedging relationships directly affected by IBOR reform. The amendments are effective for the 
Corporation's annual reporting period beginning on January 1, 2021 with earlier application permitted. The Corporation is 
assessing the potential impact of these amendments.

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND 
JUDGMENTS

The preparation of the financial statements requires Management to make judgments, assumptions and estimates in 
applying the Corporation's accounting policies. The estimates and judgments that have a significant risk of causing a 
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below.

Estimates and assumptions are continually evaluated and are based on historical trends and other factors, including 
expectations of future events that are likely to materialize under reasonable circumstances. Actual results will differ from 
estimates used, and such differences could be material.

In 2020, in response to the outbreak of the novel strain of coronavirus, COVID-19, governments worldwide enacted 
emergency measures to combat the spread of the virus which caused material disruption to businesses, resulting in a global 
economic slowdown. Management's estimates and judgments considered the uncertainties and economic implications of the 
COVID-19 pandemic on the Corporation's business, financial performance and financial position. However, despite 
management's efforts to estimate the economic implications of the current health crisis, the uncertainty surrounding the 
COVID-19 pandemic could generate, in future reporting periods, a significant risk of material adjustment to the carrying 
amounts of the following: revenue recognition, including estimated losses on revenue-generating contracts, goodwill and 
other long-lived asset impairment, leases, deferred income tax assets and litigation and claims. At the date of publication of 
these consolidated financial statements, it is not possible to reliably estimate the length and severity of these developments 
and their potential impact on the Corporation's financial results, conditions and cash flows.

WSP GLOBAL INC. 27

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2020 AND 2019

(Tabular figures in millions of Canadian dollars, except the number of shares and per share data and when otherwise stated)

WSP Global Inc.
Consolidated Financial Statements

Annual Report - 2020



REVENUE RECOGNITION

The Corporation values its costs and anticipated profits in excess of billings based on the time and materials charged into 
each project and estimated future costs and total revenues. Recognition of revenues and contract assets involves estimates of 
costs required to complete the project. On a monthly basis, Management reviews the costs incurred to date and the 
estimated costs to complete for each project to determine whether the amount recognized as contract assets is an accurate 
estimate of the amount that the Corporation has earned on its projects. Where the review determines that the value of costs 
and anticipated profits in excess of billings exceed the amount that has been earned, adjustments are made to the contract 
assets. Changes in the estimate of costs required to complete projects could lead to reversals of revenues.

IDENTIFIABLE INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND GOODWILL

Identifiable intangible assets and goodwill, excluding software, represented $3,939.3 million of total assets on the 
consolidated statement of financial position as at December 31, 2020 ($3,850.9 million as at December 31, 2019). These assets 
arise out of business combinations and the Corporation applies the acquisition method of accounting to these transactions. 
Management uses significant estimates and assumptions in measuring the fair value of the assets acquired and the liabilities 
assumed and estimating their useful lives. Significant estimates include expected cash flows, economic risk and weighted 
average cost of capital.

Intangible assets related to business combinations and recognized separately from goodwill are initially recognized at their 
fair value at the acquisition date and are mostly amortized with determined finite lives. Management uses judgment to 
identify indefinite-lived intangible assets. If actual useful lives are shorter than estimated, the Corporation may be required 
to accelerate amortization or recognize an impairment charge. 

For the purposes of assessing impairment, Management exercises judgment to identify independent cash inflows to 
determine CGUs. The fair value of CGUs are determined using key estimates including the applicable discount rate and the 
expected future cash flows. The inputs used in the discounted cash flows model are Level 3 inputs (inputs not based on 
observable market data). Management applies judgment to identify indicators of possible impairment or reversal of 
impairment at each reporting date.

LEGAL CLAIMS PROVISIONS

In the normal course of business the Corporation faces legal proceedings for work carried out on projects.  The Corporation 
has professional liability insurance in order to manage risks related to such proceedings. Management uses judgment to 
assess the potential outcomes of claims and estimates the claims provisions, based on advice and information provided by its 
legal advisors and on its own past experience in the settlement of similar proceedings. Claims provisions include litigation 
costs and also take into account indemnities. Final settlements could have a material effect on the financial position or 
operating results of the Corporation.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS

The present value of obligations is calculated on an actuarial basis which depends on a number of assumptions relating to the 
future. These assumptions include discount rates, inflation rates and life expectancy. The key assumptions are assessed 
regularly according to market conditions and data available to Management. Additional details and sensitivity analyses are 
given in note 9, Pension schemes.
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INCOME TAX PROVISION

The Corporation is subject to income tax laws and regulations in several jurisdictions. There are many transactions and 
calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain. The Corporation recognizes liabilities for anticipated tax 
audit issues on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities. Where the final tax outcome of these matters 
is different from the amounts that were initially provisioned, such differences will impact the current and deferred income 
tax assets and liabilities in the period in which such determination is made. Management periodically evaluates positions 
taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation.

DEFERRED INCOME TAX ASSETS

Management exercises judgment in the assessment of the probability of future taxable income, to estimate the extent to 
which deferred income tax assets can be realized. Estimates are based on the Corporation’s most recent approved budget 
forecast, which is adjusted for significant non-taxable income and expenses and specific limits to the use of any unused tax 
loss or credit. The tax rules and tax planning strategies in the numerous jurisdictions in which the Corporation operates are 
carefully taken into consideration. Management uses judgment to assess specific facts and circumstances to evaluate legal, 
economic or other uncertainties.

GOVERNMENT ASSISTANCE AND INVESTMENT TAX CREDITS (ITCs)

The Corporation benefits from certain government assistance programs in the different jurisdictions where it operates, 
including scientific research and experimental development tax credit programs. In preparing claims, judgment is required 
in interpreting the regulations related to these programs, determining if the operations of the Corporation qualify and 
identifying quantifying eligible expenses. These claims are subject to examination and audit by local tax authorities, who 
may disagree with interpretations made by the Corporation. Management estimates the amounts receivable under these 
programs. Final settlements following examinations and audits could be different from amounts recorded and could have a 
material effect on the financial position or operating results of the Corporation.

LEASES

The Corporation uses judgment to establish the lease term based on the conditions of the lease and whether it is reasonably 
certain that it will exercise any extension or termination options. When the implicit interest rate of a lease is not readily 
available, the Corporation is required to use its incremental borrowing rate (“IBR”), which is generally the case. The 
determination of the IBR requires the use of various assumptions. The Corporation uses judgment to determine if a lease 
modification which increases the scope of a lease should be accounted as a separate lease. Such determination requires the 
use of judgment to determine if the increase in lease payments is commensurate to the change in scope.

The Corporation applies estimates to assesses whether a right-of-use asset is impaired, particularly when it expects to vacate 
an office space, including the ability to sublease the assets or surrender the lease and recover its costs. The Corporation 
examines its lease conditions as well as local market conditions and estimates its recoverability potential for each vacated 
premise. 

5 BUSINESS ACQUISITIONS 
Acquisitions are accounted for using the acquisition method, and the operating results are included in the consolidated 
financial statements from the date of acquisition. If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the 
end of the reporting period in which the combination occurs, the Corporation will report provisional amounts for the items 
for which the accounting is incomplete. Those provisional amounts are adjusted during the measurement period, and 
additional assets or liabilities are recognized, to reflect new information obtained about facts and circumstances that existed 
at the acquisition date that, if known, would have affected the amounts recognized at that date.
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The measurement period is the period from the date of acquisition to the date the Corporation obtains complete information 
about facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date and is subject to a maximum of one year.

2020 TRANSACTIONS

In 2020, the Corporation concluded several individually immaterial acquisitions. In January 2020, WSP acquired LT 
Environmental Inc., a 140-employee environmental consulting firm based in Colorado, US. In December 2020, WSP acquired 
kW Mission Critical Engineering, a 175-employee engineering firm based in New York state, US, serving the data center 
market. These acquisitions were financed using WSP's available cash and credit facilities.

The table below presents Management's preliminary assessment of the fair values of the assets acquired and the liabilities 
assumed. The final assessments of most acquisitions were the same as the preliminary assessment. The final assessment of 
kW Mission Critical Engineering will be finalized after the values of the assets and liabilities have been definitively 
determined. Accordingly, the following values are subject to change. These acquisitions were not individually material, 
therefore the Corporation has chosen to disclose the required information in aggregate.

Preliminary recognized amounts of identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed
$

Fair value of identifiable assets and liabilities assumed  15.0 
Goodwill  132.0 

Total purchase consideration  147.0 

Cash acquired  (9.4) 
Consideration payable  (28.0) 
Net cash disbursements  109.6 

Goodwill is attributable to the workforce of the acquired businesses and the synergies expected to arise with the Corporation 
after the acquisitions. $96.7 million of the goodwill recognized is expected to be deductible for income tax purposes.

The trade receivables acquired had a fair value and gross value of $32.9 million. 

2019 TRANSACTIONS

In 2019, the Corporation concluded a number of individually immaterial acquisitions. The table below presents 
Management's preliminary assessments of the fair values of the assets acquired and the liabilities assumed as at 
December 31, 2019, any adjustments recognized during the subsequent measurement periods and the final determinations of 
the fair values as at December 31, 2020. 

The final determination of the fair values required some adjustments to the preliminary assessments as shown below.  The 
Corporation has not restated the consolidated statement of financial position as at December 31, 2019 as the adjustments 
were deemed not material. The Corporation also determined that the net impact on the net earnings as a result of these 
adjustments was not material for the year ended December 31, 2019, and as such, they were accounted for in the 
consolidated statement of earnings for the year ended December 31, 2020.

These acquisitions were not individually material, therefore the Corporation has chosen to disclose the required information 
in aggregate.
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Preliminary Adjustments Final

Recognized amounts of identifiable assets acquired and liabilities 
assumed $ $ $
Assets

Cash  19.6  0.3  19.9 
Trade receivables and other receivables  67.7  (1.3)  66.4 

Costs and anticipated profits in excess of billings  35.4  (3.6)  31.8 
Prepaid expenses  6.2  —  6.2 
Right-of-use assets (note 17) 11.8  25.8 37.6
Property and equipment and intangible assets  12.2  1.2  13.4 
Deferred income tax assets  4.3  2.4  6.7 
Other financial and non-financial assets  1.8  (1.2)  0.6 

Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  (66.9)  (4.8)  (71.7) 
Billings in excess of costs and anticipated profits  (11.3)  (2.4)  (13.7) 
Lease liabilities (note 17)  (11.8)  (26.0)  (37.8) 
Long-term debt  (4.9)  —  (4.9) 
Provisions  (1.3)  (0.8)  (2.1) 
Deferred income tax liabilities  (5.7)  0.6  (5.1) 

Fair value of identifiable assets and liabilities assumed  57.1  (9.8)  47.3 
Fair value of non-controlling interests  (1.0)  0.4  (0.6) 
Goodwill  198.7  10.3  209.0 

Total purchase consideration  254.8  0.9  255.7 

Cash acquired  (19.6)  (0.3)  (19.9) 
Consideration payable  (20.5)  —  (20.5) 
Net cash disbursements  214.7  0.6  215.3 

Goodwill is attributable to the workforce of the acquired business and the synergies expected to arise with the Corporation 
after the acquisition. $7.4 million of the goodwill recognized as at December 31, 2019 was expected to be deductible for 
income tax purposes. 

The trade receivables acquired had a fair value of $59.9 million and gross contractual amount of $65.8 million.

6 OPERATING SEGMENTS 
SEGMENTED INFORMATION

The Corporation manages its business by geographic region. The Corporation's operating segments represent countries, or 
groups of countries, in which it operates. The Corporation has four reportable segments: Canada, Americas (USA and Latin 

WSP GLOBAL INC. 31

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2020 AND 2019

(Tabular figures in millions of Canadian dollars, except the number of shares and per share data and when otherwise stated)

WSP Global Inc.
Consolidated Financial Statements

Annual Report - 2020



America), EMEIA (Europe, Middle East, India and Africa) and APAC (Asia Pacific, comprising Asia, Australia and New Zealand). 
Management has applied the following judgments to aggregate certain operating segments:

• Americas -  The operating segments of USA and Latin America are in the same geographic region of the Americas 
and have been aggregated as Latin America operating segment does not meet any of the quantitative thresholds to 
be reported separately.

• EMEIA - The operating segments of UK, Nordic countries and Central European countries have been aggregated as 
these segments have similar products and services, the same types of customers and operate in similar economies. 
The Middle East, India and Africa operating segments have also been aggregated in EMEIA as they do not meet any 
of the quantitative thresholds to be reported separately.

• APAC - The operating segments of Australia and New Zealand have been aggregated as these segments have similar 
products and services, the same types of customers and operate in similar economies. The Asia operating segment 
has also been aggregated in APAC as it does not meet any of the quantitative thresholds to be reported separately 
and it is part of the same geographic region.

The Corporation's global leadership team ("GLT") assesses the performance of the reportable segments based on net 
revenues and adjusted EBITDA by segment. Adjusted EBITDA by segment excludes items such as business acquisition, 
integration and restructuring costs, and head office corporate costs, which are not considered when assessing the underlying 
financial performance of the reportable segments. Head office corporate costs are expenses and salaries related to 
centralized functions, such as global finance, legal, human resources and technology teams, which are not allocated to 
segments. This measure also excludes the effects of financial expenses, depreciation, amortization and income taxes.

Sales between segments are carried out on terms equivalent to arm's length transactions and are eliminated upon 
consolidation.

The net revenues reported to the GLT are derived from revenues net of subconsultant and direct costs, which are measured 
in a similar manner as in the consolidated statements of earnings, and exclude intersegmental net revenues.

The tables below present the Corporation’s operations based on reportable segments, for the years ended December 31:

2020

Canada Americas EMEIA APAC Total
$ $ $ $ $

Revenues  1,141.7  3,448.4  2,879.8  1,334.0  8,803.9 
Less: Subconsultants and direct costs  (189.6)  (1,075.6)  (501.4)  (178.2)  (1,944.8) 
Net revenues by segment  952.1  2,372.8  2,378.4  1,155.8  6,859.1 

Adjusted EBITDA by segment  183.2  436.2  316.9  202.7  1,139.0 

Head office corporate costs  (85.3) 

Depreciation and amortization  (476.3) 

Acquisition, integration and restructuring costs  (103.4) 

Net financing expenses, excluding interest income  (78.7) 

Share of depreciation and taxes of associates  (9.4) 

Earnings before income taxes  385.9 
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2019

Canada Americas EMEIA APAC Total
$ $ $ $ $

Revenues  1,268.6  3,433.7  2,929.1  1,284.7  8,916.1 
Less: Subconsultants and direct costs  (201.9)  (1,126.9)  (529.2)  (171.8)  (2,029.8) 
Net revenues by segment  1,066.7  2,306.8  2,399.9  1,112.9  6,886.3 

Adjusted EBITDA by segment  207.0  416.0  326.8  172.9  1,122.7 

Impairment of property and equipment and 
goodwill  —  (25.3)  (3.7)  —  (29.0) 

Head office corporate costs  (85.9) 

Depreciation and amortization  (453.4) 

Acquisition, integration and restructuring costs  (54.2) 

Net financing expenses, excluding interest income  (106.7) 

Share of depreciation and taxes of associates  (7.7) 

Earnings before income taxes  385.8 

GEOGRAPHIC INFORMATION

The Corporation's revenues are allocated to geographic regions based on the country of operations, as follows, for the years 
ended December 31: 

2020 2019
$ $

US  3,284.1  3,246.5 
Canada  1,141.7  1,268.6 
UK  1,116.1  1,259.1 
Sweden  710.4  698.3 
Australia  642.2  621.9 
Other  1,909.4  1,821.7 

 8,803.9  8,916.1 

Right-of-use assets, property and equipment, goodwill and intangible assets are allocated in the following countries, as at 
December 31: 

2020 2019
$ $

US  2,025.9  2,122.0 
Canada  1,185.6  1,291.3 
UK  459.7  577.3 
Other  1,545.4  1,194.7 

 5,216.6  5,185.3 
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7 REVENUES
The tables below present the Corporation’s disaggregated revenues by market sector and client category, for the years ended 
December 31:

2020

Canada Americas EMEIA APAC Total
$ $ $ $ $

Market sector
Transportation & Infrastructure  499.2  2,237.6  1,434.6  706.8  4,878.2 
Property & Buildings  275.7  294.7  933.9  426.1  1,930.4 
Environment  217.8  593.2  264.1  107.8  1,182.9 
Power & Energy  44.6  95.8  175.4  42.2  358.0 
Resources  59.6  217.1  3.0  45.7  325.4 

Industry  44.8  10.0  68.8  5.4  129.0 
 1,141.7  3,448.4  2,879.8  1,334.0  8,803.9 

Client Category
Public sector  462.9  2,530.2  1,689.4  758.0  5,440.5 
Private sector  678.8  918.2  1,190.4  576.0  3,363.4 

 1,141.7  3,448.4  2,879.8  1,334.0  8,803.9 

2019

Canada Americas EMEIA APAC Total
$ $ $ $ $

Market sector
Transportation & Infrastructure  534.3  2,170.3  1,435.2  653.6  4,793.4 
Property & Buildings  290.2  405.6  912.6  421.1  2,029.5 
Environment  252.6  352.1  272.4  112.2  989.3 
Power & Energy  45.7  109.2  192.7  38.2  385.8 
Resources  102.3  382.6  17.1  53.5  555.5 

Industry  43.5  13.9  99.1  6.1  162.6 

 1,268.6  3,433.7  2,929.1  1,284.7  8,916.1 

Client Category
Public sector  515.4  2,179.3  1,718.3  546.8  4,959.8 
Private sector  753.2  1,254.4  1,210.8  737.9  3,956.3 

 1,268.6  3,433.7  2,929.1  1,284.7  8,916.1 

In 2020, 70% of the revenues were generated from cost-plus contracts with ceilings and fixed-price contracts and 30% from 
cost-plus contracts without stated ceilings (73% and 27%, respectively, in 2019).
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8 LONG-TERM INCENTIVE PLANS ("LTIPs")
The Corporation maintains a long-term incentive plan for certain employees under which stock options can be issued. The 
Corporations also maintains long-term incentive plans for certain employees under which cash-settled performance share 
units (“PSUs”), cash-settled deferred share units ("DSUs") and cash-settled restricted share units ("RSUs") can be issued. 

STOCK OPTIONS
Options granted under the stock option plan, to officers and employees, may be exercised during a period not exceeding ten 
years from the grant date. Options vest, at latest, three years after the grant date. Any unexercised options expire at the 
earlier of one month after the date a beneficiary ceases to be an employee or the expiration date of the stock option. 

During 2020, 46,414 options were exercised at prices ranging from $35.45 to $57.98 (330,312 options at prices ranging from 
$35.45 to $43.17 in 2019).

As at December 31, 2020, 705,971 stock options were outstanding (554,602 as at December 31, 2019) of which 459,515 stock 
options were vested (305,447 as at December 31, 2019), at exercise prices ranging from $35.12 to $70.71 ($35.12 to $70.71 as at 
December 31, 2019).

The fair value of stock options at grant date was measured using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. The historical share 
price of the Corporation’s common shares is used to estimate expected volatility, and government bond rates are used to 
estimate the risk-free interest rate. For options granted during the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, the following 
table illustrates the inputs used in the measurement of the grant date fair values of the stock options:

2020 2019

Expected stock price volatility 24% 20%-23%
Dividend 2.64% 2.00%-2.60%
Risk-free interest rate 1.12% 1.55%-2.50%
Fair value – weighted average of options issued 16.07 14.59

During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Corporation recorded stock-based compensation expense of $3.2 million 
($2.2 million in 2019) in Personnel costs.

PSUs, RSUs and DSUs
The PSUs are settled in cash and vest after three years if the Corporation meets certain performance targets. The RSUs are 
settled in cash and vest after three years. The DSUs are settled in cash and vest immediately when granted but their 
settlement is deferred until employment with the Corporation is terminated for any reason other than for cause.

The compensation expense and corresponding liability for these awards is measured using the market value of the 
Corporation's share price, the Corporation's expected performance vis-a-vis targets, and other factors, as applicable, and is 
recorded as an expense over the vesting period for PSUs and RSUs and as granted for DSUs. 

At the end of each financial reporting period, changes in the Corporation’s payment obligation due to changes in the market 
value of the Corporation's common shares on the TSX, or changes in the number of units based on the expected 
Corporation’s performance and other factors, as applicable, are recorded as an expense or recovery.
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The Corporation recorded an expense of $63.4 million during 2020 ($40.1 million in 2019) related to the PSUs, RSUs and DSUs 
in personnel costs. As at December 31, 2020, there were 947,237 PSUs, RSUs and DSUs outstanding and the cumulative 
obligation liability stood at $92.8 million (961,573 and $60.3 million, respectively, as at December 31, 2019). The intrinsic 
value of the liability for all share unit plans for which the participants' right to cash had vested as at December 31, 2020 was 
$54.9 million ($45.4 million as at December 31, 2019).

The Corporation enters into derivative financial instruments with Canadian financial institutions to limit the Corporation's 
exposure to the variability of LTIP based units caused by fluctuations in its common share price. The value of the derivative 
financial instruments fluctuates in accordance with the movement of the Corporation's common share price and are 
classified as FVTPL. As such, they are measured at fair value on the consolidated statement of financial position and the 
mark-to-market gain or loss pertaining to derivative financial instruments is recorded in personnel costs. In 2020, the mark-
to-market gain recorded in personnel costs amounted to $30.4 million ($5.8 million in 2019). As at December 31, 2020, the 
Corporation had derivatives outstanding for 660,000 of its common shares. 

9 PENSIONS SCHEMES
Pension costs included in personnel costs consist of the following for the years ended December 31:

2020 2019
$ $

Current service cost of defined benefit pension schemes  9.7  8.5 
Employer contributions to defined benefit pension schemes  13.1  12.6 
Employer contributions to defined contribution pension schemes  127.4  128.6 

 150.2  149.7 

The Corporation operates both defined contribution and defined benefit pension schemes. Defined contributions are charged 
to net earnings as incurred.

In the UK, there are six separate defined benefit schemes, all of which are closed to new members. The assets of the schemes 
are held separately from those of the Corporation in independently administered funds.

In Sweden, a portion of a multi-employer government-run defined benefit plan is recognized on the Corporation’s 
consolidated statement of financial position as a defined benefit plan. Accrual of service costs under this arrangement ceased 
in 2008 when the Corporation began insuring new accruals with an insurance company. This portion of the plan accounted 
for as a defined benefit plan relates to the historical accruals prior to 2008, which are unfunded. 

The benefits within the government-run plan in Sweden which are insured with the insurance company are considered a 
multi-employer plan. Since the insurance company is not able to specify the portion of their insurance assets which are set 
aside to meet each and every individual employers’ share of pension obligation, it is treated as a defined contribution scheme 
in the Corporation's consolidated financial statements. 

In the US, the Corporation maintains a deferred compensation plan under which a portion of employees’ compensation is 
deferred and invested in financial assets held in a trust (included in financial assets as disclosed in note 21, Other assets). The 
financial assets held in a trust are for the ultimate benefit of the employees but are available to the Corporation’s creditors in 
the event of insolvency.

For funded and unfunded defined benefit plans, any deficit of the fair value of plan assets over the present value of the 
defined benefit obligation is recognized as a liability in the consolidated statement of financial position. Actuarial gains and 
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losses are recognized in full as they arise in other comprehensive income. These gains and losses reflect changes in actuarial 
assumptions, and differences between actuarial assumptions and what has actually occurred.

The actuarial costs charged to the consolidated statements of earnings in respect of defined benefit plans consists of current 
service cost, net interest on defined benefit liability (asset), past service cost and costs of curtailments.

The liabilities of the Corporation arising from defined benefit obligations and their related current service cost are 
determined using the projected unit credit method. Valuations are performed annually. Actuarial advice is provided by both 
external consultants and actuaries. The actuarial assumptions used to calculate the benefit obligations vary according to the 
economic conditions of the country in which the plan is located and are set out below. 

The main assumptions used to calculate the liabilities related to defined benefit obligations and their related current service 
cost were as follows as at and for the years ended December 31:

2020 2019

UK
Rate of increase in pension payments 2.00% to 2.85% 1.95% to 3.45%
Discount rate  1.50 %  2.05 %
Inflation assumption 2.45% to 2.95% 2.30% to 2.80%
Life expectancy at age 65 (for member currently aged 65)
–    Men  87.9  87.6 
–    Women  90.1  89.4 

Sweden
Discount rate  1.20 %  1.60 %
Inflation assumption  1.50 %  1.80 %
Life expectancy at age 65 (for member currently aged 65)
–    Men  87.0  87.0 
–    Women  89.0  89.0 

US
Discount rate 0.65% to 1.40% 2.15% to 2.55%

The fair values by major categories of plan assets pertaining to the UK defined benefits pension schemes were as follows, as 
at December 31:

2020 2019
$ % $ %

Equities  59.4  23 65.0 29
Bonds  52.1  20 42.2 19
Liability-driven investments  75.2  29  46.0 20
Other  75.0  28 71.4 32
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Amounts recognized in the statements of financial position are as follows, as at December 31: 

2020 2019
$ $

Fair value of plan assets (UK)  261.7  224.6 
Present value of funded obligations (UK)  (296.1)  (253.9) 
Deficit (UK)  (34.4)  (29.3) 

Present value of unfunded obligations (Sweden)  (59.4)  (52.8) 

Present value of unfunded obligations (US)  (138.6)  (131.3) 

Pension liability  (232.4)  (213.4) 

Amounts recognized in the consolidated net earnings were as follows, for the years ended December 31:

2020 2019
$ $

Current service cost  9.7  8.5 
Past service cost  0.9  — 
Total service costs  10.6  8.5 

Interest expense  8.7  10.5 
Expected return on plan assets  (4.7)  (5.8) 
Net financing expense on pension liabilities  4.0  4.7 

Changes in the present value of the defined benefit obligation are as follows for the years ended December 31:

2020 2019
$ $

Present value of obligation – beginning balance  438.0  402.9 
Current service cost  9.7  8.5 
Past service cost  0.9  — 
Contributions from scheme members  0.2  0.2 
Benefits paid  (24.8)  (23.6) 
Interest expenses  8.7  10.5 
Actuarial losses - changes in assumptions  43.8  54.0 
Actuarial losses (gains) - changes in experience adjustments  10.7  (0.7) 
Exchange differences  6.9  (13.8) 
Present value of obligation – ending balance  494.1  438.0 
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Changes in the fair value of plan assets are as follows, as at December 31:

2020 2019
$ $

Fair value of plan assets – beginning balance  224.6  205.2 
Expected return on plan assets  4.7  5.8 
Contributions from scheme members  0.2  0.2 
Contributions from employer  13.1  12.6 
Benefits paid  (8.4)  (11.3) 
Actuarial gain/(loss) (experience)  24.1  14.2 
Exchange differences  3.4  (2.1) 
Fair value of plan assets – ending balance  261.7  224.6 

Net retirement obligations deficit summary, as at December 31:

2020 2019
$ $

Fair value of scheme assets  261.7  224.6 
Present value of scheme liabilities  (494.1)  (438.0) 
Deficit  (232.4)  (213.4) 

The Corporation’s defined benefit plans expose it to interest risk, inflation risk, longevity risk, currency risk and market 
investment risk. Sensitivity analysis of the overall pension deficit as at December 31, 2020 to changes in principal 
assumptions is shown below:

Assumption Change in basis points / years Increase in pension deficit
$

Discount rate - 10 bps  6.5 
Inflation rate(1) + 10 bps  3.1 
Mortality(1) + 1 year  15.9 

(1) Impact on pension deficit of defined benefit plans in UK and Sweden only.

The combined employee and employer contributions to be paid in the year ending December 31, 2021, pertaining to the 
Corporation’s defined benefit pension schemes in the UK, are expected to be approximately $13 million.
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10 ACQUISITION, INTEGRATION AND 
RESTRUCTURING COSTS

For the years ended December 31 2020 2019
$ $

Business integration costs  20.8  35.1 

Business acquisition costs  18.0  11.0 
Restructuring and severance costs stemming from adjustments to cost structures  70.5  8.1 
Gain on disposals of non-core assets  (5.9)  — 

 103.4  54.2 

Included in acquisition, integration and restructuring costs are employee benefit costs of $60.6 million for the year ended 
December 31, 2020 ($18.4 million in 2019). Other than employee benefit costs, costs relate mainly to legal and professional 
fees and early contract termination costs. 

11 NET FINANCING EXPENSE 

For the years ended December 31 2020 2019
$ $

Interest expense related to credit facility  35.4  66.2 
Interest expense on lease liabilities  45.9  47.0 
Net financing expense on pension obligations  4.0  4.7 
Exchange loss on assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies  8.1  2.5 
Unrealized gain on derivative financial instruments  (11.5)  (6.6) 
Other interest and bank charges  12.6  14.0 
Gain on investments in securities  (15.8)  (21.1) 
Interest income  (5.2)  (4.7) 

 73.5  102.0 
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12 INCOME TAXES 

The components of the income tax expense for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 were as follows:

2020 2019
$ $

Current income tax expense
Current income tax expense on earnings for the year  145.9  145.8 
Adjustments in respect of prior years  (35.0)  (2.1) 

 110.9  143.7 

Deferred income tax recovery
Origination and reversal of temporary differences  (37.2)  (41.2) 
Impact of changes in substantively enacted income tax rates  (3.2)  (1.1) 
Adjustments in respect of prior years  38.0  (1.3) 

 (2.4)  (43.6) 
Income tax expense  108.5  100.1 

The reconciliation of the difference between the income tax expense using the combined Canadian federal and provincial 
statutory income tax rate of 26.5% in 2020 (26.6% in 2019) and the actual effective income tax rate is as follows for the years 
ended December 31:

2020 2019
$ % $ %

Earnings before income taxes  385.9  385.8 

Income tax expense at the combined Canadian federal 
and provincial statutory income tax rate  102.3  26.5 %  102.6  26.6 %
Changes resulting from:

Foreign income tax rate differences (12.8)  (3.3) % (23.7)  (6.1) %
Non-deductible expenses, net of non-taxable income  3.6  0.9 % 12.8  3.3 %
Net unrecognized income tax benefits  15.7  4.1 %  12.3  3.2 %
Adjustments in respect of prior years  3.0  0.8 % (3.4)  (0.9) %
Effect of change in income tax rates (3.2)  (0.8) % (1.1)  (0.3) %
Other items  (0.1)  (0.1) % 0.6  0.1 %

 108.5  28.1 %  100.1  25.9 %

In 2020 and 2019, net unrecognized income tax benefits represented the impact of unrecognized current and prior years 
income tax benefits related mostly to foreign subsidiaries where recovery is not considered probable, partly offset by the 
recognition of previously unrecognized deferred income tax assets related to certain subsidiaries that generated profits in 
the current year. 
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The significant components of deferred income tax assets and liabilities were as follows, as at December 31:

2020

As at    
January 1

Credited 
(charged) 

to
statement

of earnings

Credited 
(charged) 

to other 
compre- 
hensive 
income

Charged 
directly 

to equity
Business 

acquisitions
Exchange   

differences

As at  
December 

31
$ $ $ $ $ $ $

Deferred income tax assets

Deductible provisions upon 
settlement  147.2  16.0  —  —  2.1  5.9  171.2 
Tax loss carry forwards  22.2  (0.4)  —  7.5  —  0.7  30.0 
Pension schemes  43.7  (4.0)  6.8  —  —  0.3  46.8 
Deferred issuance-related costs  0.3  —  —  5.1  —  —  5.4 
Property and equipment  15.9  3.7  —  —  —  0.3  19.9 
Leases  13.9  (4.5)  —  —  —  0.2  9.6 
Other temporary differences  35.6  (8.5)  —  —  0.1  (0.2)  27.0 

 278.8  2.3  6.8  12.6  2.2  7.2  309.9 

Deferred income tax liabilities

Costs and anticipated profits in 
excess of billings  (95.2)  (2.5)  —  —  0.2  (7.9)  (105.4) 
Holdbacks  (7.1)  (1.2)  —  —  (1.4)  0.1  (9.6) 
Property and equipment  (10.2)  (7.7)  —  —  —  0.6  (17.3) 
Intangible assets and goodwill  (69.8)  18.4  —  —  0.9  (0.3)  (50.8) 
Other temporary differences  (41.9)  (6.9)  1.1  —  (0.2)  (0.1)  (48.0) 

 (224.2)  0.1  1.1  —  (0.5)  (7.6)  (231.1) 
 54.6  2.4  7.9  12.6  1.7  (0.4)  78.8 
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2019

As at
January 1

Credited 
(charged) to

statement
of earnings

Credited 
(charged) to 

other 
comprehen- 
sive income

Business 
acquisitions

Exchange   
differences

As at  
December 31

$ $ $ $ $ $
Deferred income tax assets

Deductible provisions upon 
settlement  134.7  8.2  —  9.9  (5.6)  147.2 
Tax loss carry forwards  25.0  (3.2)  —  1.5  (1.1)  22.2 
Pension Plan  42.6  (5.6)  8.5  —  (1.8)  43.7 
Deferred issuance-related costs  1.1  (0.7)  —  —  (0.1)  0.3 
Property and equipment  13.3  2.7  —  —  (0.1)  15.9 
Leases  —  14.1  —  —  (0.2)  13.9 
Other temporary differences  40.8  8.9  —  (12.0)  (2.1)  35.6 

 257.5  24.4  8.5  (0.6)  (11.0)  278.8 

Deferred income tax liabilities

Costs and anticipated profits in 
excess of billings  (84.4)  (9.1)  —  (8.4)  6.7  (95.2) 
Holdbacks  (5.0)  (2.1)  —  —  —  (7.1) 
Property and equipment  (16.6)  3.8  —  2.0  0.6  (10.2) 
Intangible assets and goodwill  (71.0)  17.6  —  (19.7)  3.3  (69.8) 
Other temporary differences  (38.7)  9.0  1.6  (14.8)  1.0  (41.9) 

 (215.7)  19.2  1.6  (40.9)  11.6  (224.2) 
 41.8  43.6  10.1  (41.5)  0.6  54.6 

The deferred income taxes are presented as follows on the consolidated statements of financial position, as at December 31:

2020 2019
$ $

Deferred income tax assets  169.2  145.8 
Deferred income tax liabilities  (90.4)  (91.2) 

 78.8  54.6 

As at December 31, 2020, the Corporation had recognized deferred income tax assets of $30.0 million ($22.2 million as at 
December 31, 2019) related to tax losses of the current and prior years. The deferred income tax assets are recognized, as the 
Corporation believes it is probable that taxable profits will be available in the future against which the tax loss carry 
forwards can be utilized.

As at December 31, 2020, the Corporation had $133.3 million ($130.5 million as at December 31, 2019) of unrecognized 
deferred income tax assets. Of these, $288.3 million relate to tax loss carry forwards, of which $36.2 million expire between 
2021 and 2039 and the remainder of which having no expiry ($269.9 million and $42.0 million, respectively, as at 
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December 31, 2019), $64.6 million relate to gross temporary differences with no expiry ($90.9 million as at December 31, 
2019) and $38.6 million relate to tax credits that expire between 2027 and 2030 ($23.6 million as at December 31, 2019). The 
Corporation considers the recovery of those unrecognized deferred income tax assets as not probable.

As at December 31, 2020, a deferred income tax liability relating to $684.3 million of taxable temporary differences associated 
with the undistributed earnings of subsidiaries, has not been recognized as the Corporation controls the timing of the 
reversal of these temporary differences and does not expect they will reverse in the foreseeable future ($511.0 million as at 
December 31, 2019). Upon distribution of these earnings in the form of dividends or otherwise, the Corporation may be 
subject to corporate or withholding income taxes.

13 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS  
FAIR VALUE 

Cash, trade and other receivables, accounts payable, dividends payable to shareholders, bank overdrafts, long-term debt 
related to credit facility, and other financial liabilities are financial instruments whose fair values approximate their carrying 
values due to their short-term maturity, variable interest rates or current market rates for instruments with fixed rates.

The fair value hierarchy under which the Corporation’s financial instruments are valued is as follows: 
• Level 1 includes unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;
• Level 2 includes inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the assets or liability, 

either directly or indirectly;
• Level 3 includes inputs for the assets or liability that are not based on observable market data. 

As at December 31, 2020 and 2019, other financial assets fair values are valued under Level 1. Foreign currency risk based 
financial instruments' fair values, notably foreign currency forward contracts and cross currency swap agreements, are 
valued under Level 2.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Corporation is exposed to credit risk, foreign currency risk, interest rate risk and liquidity risk. The following analyses 
provide a portrait of those risks as at December 31, 2020 and 2019.

CREDIT RISK

Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will not meet its obligations under a financial instrument or customer contract, 
leading to a financial loss.

Financial instruments which potentially subject the Corporation to significant credit risk consist principally of cash, trade 
receivables, other receivables, investments in securities and amounts due from joint ventures and associates. Costs and 
anticipated profits in excess of billings are also evaluated for credit risk using the same model. The Corporation’s maximum 
amount of credit risk exposure is limited to the carrying amount of these financial instruments and contract assets, which is 
$3,102.7 million as at December 31, 2020 ($3,129.5 million as at December 31, 2019).

The Corporation’s cash is held with investment-grade financial institutions. Therefore, the Corporation considers the risk of 
non-performance on these instruments to be minimal.

The Corporation’s credit risk is principally attributable to its trade receivables and costs and anticipated profits in excess of 
billings. The amounts disclosed in the consolidated statements of financial position are net of an allowance for expected 
credit losses, estimated by Management and based, in part, on the age of the specific receivable balance and the current and 
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expected collection trends. Generally, the Corporation does not require collateral or other security from customers for trade 
accounts receivable; however, credit is extended following an evaluation of creditworthiness. In addition, the Corporation 
performs ongoing credit reviews of all its customers and establishes an allowance for expected credit losses when the 
likelihood of collecting the account has significantly diminished. The Corporation believes that the credit risk of trade 
accounts receivable is limited. During the year ended December 31, 2020 credit losses amounted to $42.4 million 
($20.1 million in 2019).

The Corporation mitigates its credit risk by providing services to diverse clients in various market sectors, countries and 
sectors of the economy.

FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of 
changes in foreign exchange rates.

The Corporation operates internationally and is exposed to currency risks arising from its operating activities denominated 
in US dollars, pounds sterling, Swedish krona, Australian dollars, euros, New Zealand dollars, and other currencies as well as 
from its net assets in foreign operations. These risks are partially offset by purchases and operating expenses incurred in 
these currencies.

The Corporation has investments in foreign operations, whose net assets are exposed to foreign currency risk. This risk is 
partly offset through borrowings denominated in the relevant foreign currency. The exchange gains or losses on the net 
equity investment of these operations are reflected in the accumulated other comprehensive income account in 
shareholders’ equity, as part of the currency translation adjustment.

The Corporation entered into foreign currency forward contracts and options to hedge the variability in the foreign 
currency exchange rate of certain currencies against the Canadian dollar. The net fair market value gain of these forward 
contracts and options amounted to $2.2 million in 2020 and was recorded in net earnings. The largest hedged currencies 
outstanding as at December 31, 2020 represent a nominal amount of $132.0 million US dollars.

Following the announcement of the planned acquisition of Enterra Holdings Ltd, as described in note 31, Subsequent events, 
the Corporation entered into a deal contingent hedge forward transaction to sell $310 million Canadian dollars from the 
equity private placement to purchase US dollars expected to be used to settle the purchase price of the planned acquisition. 
The deal is structured in a manner that the forward transaction is executed only if the acquisition of Enterra Holdings Ltd is 
closed. If the acquisition does not close, then the contracts will become null and void without any payments between WSP 
and the financial institutions. The net fair market value loss of these transactions amounted to $2.4 million and was recorded 
in net earnings and other comprehensive income. 

The Corporation also entered into interest rate swaps for a nominal amount of $425.0 million US dollars to hedge the 
variability in interest rates of its US-dollar denominated debt. The fair market value loss of these interest rate swap 
agreements amounted to $2.5 million and was recorded in other comprehensive income.

The Corporation enters into derivative financial instruments with Canadian financial institutions to limit the Corporation's 
exposure to the variability of cash-settled LTIP share unit compensation plans caused by fluctuations in its common share 
price. The value of the derivative financial instruments fluctuates in accordance with the movement of the Corporation's 
common share price and are classified as fair value through profit or loss. As such, they are measured at fair value on the 
consolidated statement of financial position and the mark-to-market gain or loss pertaining to derivative financial 
instruments is recorded in personnel costs. In 2020, the mark-to-market gains to date recorded in personnel costs amounted 
to $30.4 million. As at December 31, 2020, the Corporation had hedges outstanding for 660,000 of its common shares. 
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Taking into account the amounts denominated in foreign currencies and presuming that all of the other variables remain 
unchanged, a fluctuation in exchange rates would have an impact on the Corporation’s net earnings and equity. 
Management believes that a 10% change in exchange rates could be reasonably possible. The table below summarizes the 
impacts on net earnings and other comprehensive income of a 10% weakening or strengthening in exchange rates against 
the Canadian dollar, for the years ended December 31:

2020

US dollar
Swedish 

krona
Pound 

sterling
Australian 

dollar
$ $ $ $

Net earnings  12.8  3.4  2.6  3.3 
Other comprehensive income  140.3  122.0  18.9  16.4 

2019

US Dollar
Swedish 

krona
Pound 

sterling
Australian 

Dollar
$ $ $ $

Net earnings  11.4  3.7  6.6  3.4 
Other comprehensive income  144.0  124.1  21.7  16.1 

INTEREST RISK

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes 
in market interest rates. The Corporation’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates relates primarily to its 
long-term debt and other non current financial liabilities with floating interest rates. This risk is partially offset by cash held 
at variable rates.

A 100-base point change in interest rates would not have a material impact on the Corporation’s net earnings. 

LIQUIDITY RISK 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Corporation will encounter difficulties in meeting its obligations as they fall due. 

A centralized treasury function ensures that the Corporation maintains funding flexibility by assessing future cash flow 
expectations and by maintaining sufficient headroom on its committed borrowing facilities. Borrowing limits, cash 
restrictions and compliance with debt covenants are also taken into account.

The Corporation watches for liquidity risks arising from financial instruments on an ongoing basis. Management monitors 
the liquidity requirements to ensure it has sufficient cash to meet operational needs while maintaining sufficient headroom 
on its undrawn committed borrowing facilities at all times. WSP has access to committed lines of credit with banks, as 
described in note 24, Long-term debt.
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The tables below presents the contractual maturities of financial liabilities as at December 31, 2020 and 2019. The amounts 
disclosed are contractual undiscounted cash flows.

2020
Carrying 
amount

Contractual 
cash flows

Less than 
a year

Between 
1 and 2 years

More than 
2 years

$ $ $ $ $

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  1,718.2  1,718.2  1,718.2  —  — 

Dividends payable to shareholders  42.5  42.5  42.5  —  — 

Lease liabilities  1,018.4  1,161.4  261.8  220.1  679.5 

Long-term debt  574.2  585.0  304.8  260.9  19.3 

 3,353.3  3,507.1  2,327.3  481.0  698.8 

2019
Carrying 
amount

Contractual 
cash flows

Less than 
a year

Between 
1 and 2 years

More than 
2 years

$ $ $ $ $

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  1,650.7  1,650.7  1,650.7  —  — 

Dividends payable to shareholders  39.7  39.7  39.7  —  — 

Lease liabilities 1050.6 1221.6 276.2 280.2 665.2
Long-term debt  1,399.7  1,516.4  310.3  292.1  914.0 

 4,140.7  4,428.4  2,276.9  572.3  1,579.2 

As at December 31, 2020, the Corporation had amounts available under the credit facility of $1,453.1 million ($910.1 million in 
2019), net of outstanding letters of credit of $77.4 million ($72.7 million in 2019). The Corporation's cash and cash 
equivalents, net of bank overdraft, as at December 31, 2020 was $434.7 million ($237.3 million in 2019).
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14 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
As at December 31 2020 2019

$ $

Net trade receivables  1,311.2  1,547.9 
Other receivables  282.3  216.5 
Amounts due from joint ventures and associates  5.3  3.4 

 1,598.8  1,767.8 

In applying the simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses, the Corporation does not track changes in credit 
risk and therefore does not assign credit risk rating grades to trade receivables. The Corporation does track the aging of 
gross trade receivables past due, which was as follows:

As at December 31 2020 2019
$ $

Current  470.2  559.5 
Past due 0-30 days  385.5  422.3 
Past due 31-60 days  188.3  268.3 
Past due 61-90 days  85.8  77.7 
Past due 91-180 days  110.4  124.0 
Past due over 180 days  245.0  251.2 

Trade receivables  1,485.2  1,703.0 
Allowance for expected credit loss  (174.0)  (155.1) 
Net trade receivables  1,311.2  1,547.9 

The Corporation is exposed to credit risk with respect to its trade receivables and maintains provisions for potential credit 
losses. Potential for such losses is mitigated because customer creditworthiness is evaluated before credit is extended and no 
single customer represents more than 10% of revenues. During the year ended December 31, 2020, credit losses amounted to 
$42.4 million ($20.1 million in 2019).
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15  CONTRACT BALANCES
Changes in costs and anticipated profits in excess of billings (contract assets) and in billings in excess of costs and anticipated 
profits (contract liabilities) are as follows:

2020 2019

Costs and 
anticipated 

profits in excess 
of billings

Billings in 
excess of costs 

and anticipated 
profits

Costs and 
anticipated 

profits in excess 
of billings

Billings in 
excess of costs 

and anticipated 
profits

$ $ $ $
Balance - As at January 1  995.7  (629.0)  1,116.1  (678.3) 

Increases due to cash received or amounts invoiced 
prior to rendering of services  —  (1,577.6)  —  (2,509.4) 

Transfers to revenues once related services have 
been deemed rendered  —  1,500.6  —  2,569.7 

Additions to contract assets through revenues 
recognition  7,303.3  —  6,346.4  — 

Transfers from costs and anticipated profits in 
excess of billings to trade receivables  (7,340.3)  —  (6,449.7)  — 
Changes due to business acquisitions and disposals  (13.6)  (1.9)  29.8  (40.2) 
Effect of exchange rate changes  5.4  (0.6)  (46.9)  29.2 
Balance - As at December 31  950.5  (708.5)  995.7  (629.0) 

In the year ended December 31, 2020, revenue recognized that was included in contract liability as at January 1, 2020 
amounted to $567.5 million ($669.4 million in 2019). In the year ended December 31, 2020, revenue recognized from 
performance obligations satisfied or partially satisfied in previous years amounted to $30.7 million ($74.5 million in 2019).

Unfulfilled performance obligations, representing the Corporation's remaining contractual obligations related to signed 
cost-plus contracts with ceilings and fixed-price contracts on which work has commenced, amounted to $7,326.8 million as 
of December 31, 2020 ($7,898.7 million as at December 31, 2019). Cost-plus contracts without stated ceilings have been 
excluded as the full amount of the contracted work cannot be definitively assessed.

Timing of contract execution is subject to many factors outside of the Corporation's control. Project scope changes, client-
driven time lines and customers' project financing are just a few examples of such factors. The Corporation estimates that 
approximately 60% of the unfulfilled performance obligations as at December 31, 2020 unwind over the following 12 months.

16  OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS
As at December 31 2020 2019

$ $
Investments in securities  116.3  110.4 
Other  1.8  4.1 

 118.1  114.5 

Investments in securities include investments in a multitude of mutual funds, based on employees’ investment elections, 
with respect of the deferred compensation obligations of the Corporation as disclosed in note 9, Pension schemes. The fair 
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value of these investments is $115.5 million ($108.2 million in 2019), determined by the market price of the funds at the 
reporting date, which are Level 1 inputs (unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets).

17 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE 
LIABILITIES 

Right-of-use assets

For the year ended 
December 31, 2020

For the year ended 
December 31, 2019

Real estate Equipment Total Real estate Equipment Total
$ $ $ $ $ $

Balance - As at January 1  866.8  46.6  913.4  1,040.2  33.1  1,073.3 

Additions through business acquisitions 
and measurement period adjustments  26.0  —  26.0  11.8  —  11.8 
Additions  101.1  41.3  142.4  40.8  23.2  64.0 
Lease renewals  47.2  —  47.2  —  —  — 
Lease reassessments and modifications  4.2  (3.6)  0.6  —  —  — 
Depreciation expense  (246.4)  (21.9)  (268.3)  (232.5)  (9.2)  (241.7) 

Utilization of lease inducement 
allowances  17.1  —  17.1  26.4  —  26.4 
Exchange differences  15.4  0.5  15.9  (19.9)  (0.5)  (20.4) 
Balance - As at December 31  831.4  62.9  894.3  866.8  46.6  913.4 

Lease liabilities

For the year ended 
December 31, 2020

For the year ended 
December 31, 2019

Real estate Equipment Total Real estate Equipment Total
$ $ $ $ $ $

Balance - As at January 1  1,007.9  42.7  1,050.6  1,156.6  33.1  1,189.7 

Additions through business acquisitions 
and measurement period adjustments  26.0  —  26.0  11.8  —  11.8 
Additions  101.1  39.2  140.3  66.1  23.2  89.3 
Lease renewals  47.2  —  47.2  —  —  — 
Lease reassessments and modifications  (1.9)  (3.6)  (5.5)  —  —  — 

Interest expense on lease liabilities 
(note 11)  43.8  2.1  45.9  45.4  1.6  47.0 
Payments  (276.0)  (25.3)  (301.3)  (246.0)  (14.7)  (260.7) 
Exchange differences  15.0  0.2  15.2  (26.0)  (0.5)  (26.5) 
Balance - As at December 31  963.1  55.3  1,018.4  1,007.9  42.7  1,050.6 
Current portion of lease liabilities  210.6  22.5  233.1  201.1  10.6  211.7 
Non-current portion of lease liabilities  752.5  32.8  785.3  806.8  32.1  838.9 
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18 PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
Freehold 
land and 
buildings

Leasehold 
improve- 

ments

Furniture 
and

equipment
Computer

equipment Total
$ $ $ $ $

Balance as at January 1, 2019
Cost  28.5  246.0  252.6  246.8  773.9 
Accumulated depreciation  (5.3)  (112.8)  (147.1)  (158.1)  (423.3) 
Net value  23.2  133.2  105.5  88.7  350.6 

Additions  0.1  53.5  31.3  51.0  135.9 
Additions through business acquisitions (note 5)  3.7  1.1  3.1  2.6  10.5 
Disposals  (0.7)  (5.0)  (2.5)  —  (8.2) 
Depreciation for the year  (1.0)  (27.9)  (29.7)  (42.4)  (101.0) 
Impairment  —  (23.7)  (1.6)  —  (25.3) 
Exchange differences  (0.1)  (6.1)  (5.5)  (3.1)  (14.8) 
Balance as at December 31, 2019  25.2  125.1  100.6  96.8  347.7 

Balance as at December 31, 2019
Cost  31.6  247.1  279.6  247.4  805.7 
Accumulated depreciation  (6.4)  (122.0)  (179.0)  (150.6)  (458.0) 
Net value  25.2  125.1  100.6  96.8  347.7 

Additions  0.1  8.9  19.4  43.7  72.1 
Additions through business acquisitions (note 5)  —  1.0  1.6  —  2.6 
Disposals, including through business disposals  (1.6)  (0.1)  (5.2)  (0.6)  (7.5) 
Depreciation  (0.9)  (26.8)  (31.1)  (44.5)  (103.3) 
Exchange differences  0.1  (0.1)  1.3  2.0  3.3 
Balance as at December 31, 2020  22.9  108.0  86.6  97.4  314.9 

Balance as at December 31, 2020
Cost  29.2  261.9  296.5  277.9  865.5 
Accumulated depreciation  (6.3)  (153.9)  (209.9)  (180.5)  (550.6) 
Net value  22.9  108.0  86.6  97.4  314.9 

In the fourth quarter of 2019, the Corporation wrote-off leasehold improvements and furniture and equipment of 
$25.3 million related to the early termination of a lease in the US.
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19  INTANGIBLE ASSETS 

Software
Contract 
backlogs

Customer 
relation- 

ships
Trade  

names Total
$ $ $ $ $

Balance as at January 1, 2019
Cost  176.1  196.0  306.8  81.8  760.7 
Accumulated amortization  (109.8)  (129.2)  (132.8)  (21.2)  (393.0) 
Net value  66.3  66.8  174.0  60.6  367.7 

Additions  26.6  —  —  —  26.6 
Additions through business acquisitions (note 5)  14.2  38.1  33.0  —  85.3 
Disposals  1.9  —  —  —  1.9 
Amortization for the year  (32.7)  (36.8)  (35.8)  (5.4)  (110.7) 
Exchange differences  (3.0)  (3.2)  (8.2)  (1.0)  (15.4) 
Balance as at December 31, 2019  73.3  64.9  163.0  54.2  355.4 

Balance as at December 31, 2019
Cost  187.7  225.7  327.5  79.9  820.8 
Accumulated amortization  (114.4)  (160.8)  (164.5)  (25.7)  (465.4) 
Net value  73.3  64.9  163.0  54.2  355.4 

Additions  20.5  0.5  —  —  21.0 
Additions through business acquisitions (note 5)  1.2  —  —  —  1.2 
Amortization for the year  (28.5)  (38.0)  (33.1)  (5.1)  (104.7) 
Exchange differences  1.6  0.3  0.1  0.6  2.6 
Balance as at December 31, 2020  68.1  27.7  130.0  49.7  275.5 

Balance as at December 31, 2020
Cost  192.7  129.4  255.7  49.7  627.5 
Accumulated amortization  (124.6)  (101.7)  (125.7)  —  (352.0) 
Net value  68.1  27.7  130.0  49.7  275.5 

The carrying amount of intangible assets assessed as having an indefinite useful life, which consists of the WSP trade name, 
is $49.7 million as at December 31, 2020 ($49.0 million in December 31, 2019).

The Corporation performed its annual impairment test for the WSP trade name as at September 26, 2020 and September 29, 
2019 in accordance with its policy described in note 2. As a result, no impairment for the WSP trade name was recorded.

During the year, the Corporation acquired intangible assets amounting to $22.2 million ($111.9 million in December 31, 2019), 
all of which are subject to amortization. 
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20 GOODWILL 
2020 2019

$ $

Balance – As at January 1  3,568.8  3,493.2 
Goodwill resulting from business acquisitions  132.0  198.7 
Measurement period adjustments  10.3  13.1 
Disposals  (13.3)  — 
Impairment charges  —  (3.7) 
Exchange differences  34.1  (132.5) 
Balance – As at December 31  3,731.9  3,568.8 

Goodwill is allocated to the Corporation’s CGUs. The carrying value of goodwill by CGU is identified in the table below:

As at December 31 2020 2019

Goodwill allocated to CGUs
$ $

USA  1,560.4  1,443.3 

Canada  880.3  891.2 

Nordics  378.7  346.1 

UK  325.6  322.9 

New Zealand  197.8  188.5 

Australia  111.4  102.7 

Central Europe  96.8  88.4 

Asia  69.6  70.7 

Latin America  62.0  63.5 

Middle East  49.3  51.5 
 3,731.9  3,568.8 

IMPAIRMENT TEST OF LONG-LIVED ASSETS

The Corporation performed its annual impairment test for goodwill and other indefinite-lived intangible assets as at 
September 26, 2020 and September 29, 2019 in accordance with its policy described in note 2. The key assumptions used to 
determine the fair value for the different CGUs for the most recently completed impairment calculations for 2020 are 
discussed below. The Corporation has not identified any indicators of impairment at any other date and as such has not 
completed an additional impairment calculation. In 2020, the fair value of each CGU exceeded its carrying value and no 
goodwill impairment was identified. In 2019, goodwill impairment of $3.7 million was recorded related to the South Africa 
CGU.

VALUATION TECHNIQUE

FAIR VALUE LESS COSTS TO SELL ("FVLCS")

The recoverable amount of each CGU has been determined based on the FVLCS. Fair value measurement is a market-based 
measurement rather than an entity-specific measurement. The fair value of a CGU must be measured using the assumptions 
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that market participants would use rather than those related specifically to the Corporation. In determining the FVLCS of the 
CGUs, an income approach using the discounted cash flow methodology was utilized. The inputs used in the discounted cash 
flows model are Level 3 inputs (inputs not based on observable market data). In addition, the market approach was employed 
in assessing the reasonableness of the conclusions reached.

INCOME APPROACH

Management has determined that the discounted cash flow (“DCF”) technique provides the best assessment of what each 
CGU could be exchanged for in an arm’s length transaction. Fair value is represented by the present value of expected future 
cash flows of the business together with the terminal value of the business at the end of the forecast period. The DCF 
technique was applied on an enterprise-value basis, where the after-tax cash flows prior to interest expense are discounted 
using a weighted average cost of capital (“WACC”). This approach requires assumptions regarding revenue growth rates, 
adjusted EBITDA and adjusted EBITDA margins, level of working capital, capital expenditures, tax rates and discount rates.

MARKET APPROACH

It is assumed under the market approach that the value of a Corporation reflects the price at which comparable companies in 
the same industry are purchased under similar circumstances. A comparison of a CGU to similar companies in the same 
industry whose financial information is publicly available may provide a reasonable basis to estimate fair value. Fair value 
under this approach is calculated based on an adjusted EBITDA multiple compared to the average median multiple based on 
publicly available information for comparable companies and transaction prices.

KEY ASSUMPTIONS USED IN DETERMINING THE FVLCS

The discount rates and terminal growth rates applied to CGUs in 2020 were the following:

Discount rate
Terminal 

growth rate
USA  7.50 %  2.0 %
Canada  8.25 %  2.0 %
Nordics  8.00 %  2.0 %
UK  8.25 %  2.0 %
New Zealand  8.25 %  2.0 %
Australia  7.50 %  2.0 %
Asia  10.25 %  2.0 %
Latin America  10.00 %  2.0 %
Central Europe  10.50 %  2.0 %
Middle East  11.00 %  2.0 %

CASH FLOW PROJECTIONS

The cash flow projections are based on the financial forecast approved by Management and the Board of Directors. These 
projections use assumptions that reflect the Corporation’s most likely planned course of action, given Management’s 
judgment of the most probable set of economic conditions, adjusted to reflect the expectations of a market participant. 
Adjusted EBITDA is based on budgeted values in the first year of the five-year projection period (“projection period”), with 
increases over the projection period using an estimated revenue growth rate and anticipated EBITDA efficiency 
improvements. The revenue growth rates applied following the first year's projections ranged from 2.0% to 5.0%. 
Management considered past experience, economic trends as well as industry and market trends in assessing reasonableness 
of financial projections used.
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DISCOUNT RATE

The discount rate reflects the current market assessment of the risk specific to comparable companies. The discount rate was 
based on the weighted average cost of equity and cost of debt for comparable companies within the industry. The discount 
rate represents the after-tax weighted average cost of capital ("WACC"). Determining the WACC requires analyzing the cost 
of equity and debt separately, and takes into account a risk premium that is based on the applicable CGU. 

TERMINAL GROWTH RATE

Growth rates used to extrapolate the Corporation’s projection were determined using published industry growth rates in 
combination with inflation assumptions and the input of each CGU’s management group based on historical trend analysis 
and future expectations of growth. 

COSTS TO SELL

The costs to sell for each CGU have been estimated at approximately 0.75% of the CGU’s enterprise value. The costs to sell 
reflect the incremental costs, excluding finance costs and income taxes, which would be directly attributable to the disposal 
of the CGU, including legal and direct incremental costs incurred in preparing the CGU for sale.

SENSITIVITY TO CHANGES IN ASSUMPTIONS

The following analyses are presented in isolation from one another, i.e. all other estimates left unchanged:

A 5% decrease, evenly distributed over future periods, in the expected future net cash inflows would have resulted in an 
impairment of goodwill allocated to Latin America and Central Europe totaling $6.1 million. No additional impairment would 
have been identified in other CGUs.

An increase of 50-basis points in the discount rates used to perform the impairment tests would have resulted in an 
impairment of goodwill allocated to Latin America and Central Europe totaling $4.5 million. No additional impairment would 
have been identified in other CGUs.

21 OTHER ASSETS
As at December 31 2020 2019

$ $

Investments in associates  85.3  84.1 
Investments in joint ventures  27.8  3.1 
Other  37.8  1.2 

 150.9  88.4 
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22 ACCOUNTS PAYABLE  AND ACCRUED 
LIABILITIES

As at December 31 2020 2019
$ $

Trade payables  509.1  608.4 
Employee benefits payable  773.3  612.5 
Accrued expenses and other payables  311.6  343.7 
Sale taxes payable  123.7  85.9 
Amounts due to joint ventures and associates  0.5  0.2 

 1,718.2  1,650.7 

23 PROVISIONS
Claims

provisions
Other

provisions Total
$ $ $

Balance as at January 1, 2020  123.4  21.2  144.6 

Additions through business acquisitions  0.8  —  0.8 
Additional provision recognized  90.4  46.4  136.8 
Utilized or reversed  (23.1)  (4.6)  (27.7) 
Exchange differences  (2.6)  0.4  (2.2) 
Balance as at December 31, 2020  188.9  63.4  252.3 
Current portion  61.9  9.5  71.4 
Non-current portion  127.0  53.9  180.9 

Some of the claims provisioned qualify under the Corporation's insurance coverage for reimbursement and as such 
receivables from insurance companies are recorded for certain claims in other receivables (note 14) for current claims and in 
other assets (note 21) for long-term claims.
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24 LONG-TERM DEBT 
As at 2020 2019

$ $

Borrowings under credit facility  510.2  1,350.4 
Bank overdraft  2.4  18.3 
Other financial liabilities  61.6  31.0 

 574.2  1,399.7 
Current portion  296.9  307.8 
Non-current portion  277.3  1,091.9 

CREDIT FACILITY

WSP has in place a US$1,600.0 million credit facility with a syndicate of financial institutions (the "Lenders") comprised of:

- a senior unsecured non-revolving term credit facility which consists of a principal amount of US$400.0 million (the 
"Term Facility"), made up of two term loans of US$200.0 million, expiring on December 18, 2021 and December 18, 2022, 
respectively; and

- a senior unsecured revolving credit facility to a maximum amount of US$1,200.0 million (the "Revolving Credit 
Facility"). The maturity date of the Revolving Credit Facility is December 31, 2023. 

The amount available under the credit facility is $1,453.1 million as at December 31, 2020.

The credit facility bears interest at Canadian prime rate, US-based rate, Bankers’ acceptances rate and LIBOR plus an 
applicable margin of up to 2.25% that will vary depending on the type of advances. The Corporation pays a commitment fee 
on the available unused credit facility.

Under the credit facility, the Corporation is required, among other conditions, to respect certain covenants on a consolidated 
basis. The main covenants are in regard to its consolidated funded debt to consolidated adjusted EBITDA and the interest 
coverage ratios. Management reviews compliance with these covenants on a quarterly basis in conjunction with filing 
requirements under its credit facility. All covenants have been met as at December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019.

Under the credit facility and other facilities, as at December 31, 2020, the Corporation may issue irrevocable letters of credit 
up to $870.7 million ($751.5 million as at December 31, 2019). As at December 31, 2020, the Corporation issued irrevocable 
letters of credit totaling $428.2 million ($418.1 million as at December 31, 2019).

As at December 31, 2020, the Corporation had available other operating lines of credit amounting to $130.5 million 
($104.1 million in 2019), of which $128.1 million ($85.7 million in 2019) were unused at year end.
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Credit facility allocation by currency, in Canadian dollars, as at December 31:

2020 2019
$ $

US dollar  510.2  1,326.1 
Pound sterling  —  7.1 
Swedish krona  —  7.2 
Canadian dollar  —  10.0 

 510.2  1,350.4 

25 SHARE CAPITAL 

AUTHORIZED

An unlimited number of common shares without par value, voting and participating.

An unlimited number of preferred shares without par value, participating, issuable in series.

ISSUED AND PAID
Common shares

Number $

Balance as at January 1, 2019  104,441,416  2,656.5 
Shares issued under the Divident Reinvestment Plan (DRIP) (note 27)  1,161,114  79.9 
Shares issued upon exercise of stock options  330,312  15.8 
Balance as at December 31, 2019  105,932,842  2,752.2 
Shares issued related to public bought deal and private placements  6,659,200  563.2 
Shares issued under the DRIP (note 27)  895,995  76.1 
Shares issued upon exercise of stock options  46,414  2.7 
Balance as at December 31, 2020  113,534,451  3,394.2 

On June 17, 2020, the Corporation completed a bought deal public offering (the “Offering”) of common shares of the 
Corporation (the “Offering Common Shares”) and a private placement (the “Concurrent Private Placement”) of common 
shares of the Corporation (the “Placement Common Shares”) for aggregate gross proceeds of $572.7 million.

The Corporation issued from treasury 5,842,000 Offering Common Shares, including the 762,000 Offering Common Shares 
issued as a result of the full exercise of the over-allotment option at a price of $86.00 per Offering Common Share, for 
aggregate gross proceeds of $502.4 million.

In addition, the Corporation issued an aggregate of 817,200 Placement Common Shares, at a price of $86.00 per Placement 
Common Share, through the Concurrent Private Placement with Caisse de dépôt et placement du Québec (“CDPQ”) and a 
subsidiary of Canada Pension Plan Investment Board (“CPP Investments”), for aggregate gross proceeds of $70.3 million, 
which includes 76,200 Placement Common Shares issued pursuant to the exercise by CDPQ of its additional subscription 
option in connection with the exercise of the underwriters’ over-allotment option. Immediately following the Concurrent 
Private Placement, CDPQ beneficially owned, exercised control or direction over, directly or indirectly, an aggregate of 
20,769,048 common shares of the Corporation, representing 18.4% of the issued and outstanding common shares of the 
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Corporation, and CPP Investments beneficially owned, exercised control or direction over, directly or indirectly, an 
aggregate of 21,344,068 common shares of the Corporation, representing 18.9% of the issued and outstanding common shares 
of the Corporation. Both CDPQ and CPP Investments have undertaken to have all of the common shares of the Corporation 
held by them (including the Placement Common Shares) participate in the Corporation’s dividend reinvestment plan (the 
“DRIP”) and to have such common shares of the Corporation enrolled in the DRIP for all dividends for which the record date 
is on or before June 30, 2021.

Total issuance-related costs of these transactions amounted to $24.2 million, less income tax recovery of $6.4 million.

In 2020, the Corporation recognized additional deferred income tax assets and income taxes receivable of $6.2 million and 
$2.1 million, respectively, related to share issuance costs of previous years.

As at December 31, 2020, no preferred shares were issued.

26 CAPITAL MANAGEMENT
The Corporation’s primary objectives when managing capital structure are as follows:

• maintain financial flexibility in order to meet financial obligations, to provide dividends, to execute growth plan 
and to continue growth through business acquisitions; 

• manage the Corporation’s activities in a responsible way in order to provide an adequate return for its shareholders; 
and

• comply with financial covenants required under the credit facility.

For capital management, the Corporation has defined its capital as the combination of borrowings under credit facility, 
shareholders’ equity and non‑controlling interest, net of cash (net of bank overdraft). 

As at December 31 2020 2019
$ $

Borrowings under credit facility  510.2  1,350.4 
Equity attributable to shareholders of WSP Global Inc.  4,080.4  3,330.8 
Non-controlling interests  1.0  1.1 

 4,591.6  4,682.3 
Less: Cash, net of bank overdraft  (434.7)  (237.3) 

 4,156.9  4,445.0 

The Corporation’s financing strategy is to maintain a flexible structure consistent with the objectives stated above, to 
respond adequately to changes in economic conditions and to allow growth organically and through business acquisitions. 
The Corporation monitors its capital structure using the consolidated funded debt to consolidated adjusted EBITDA ratio. 
This ratio is used to determine what the maximum debt level would be.

In order to maintain and adjust its capital structure, the Corporation may issue new shares in the market, contract bank 
loans and negotiate new credit facilities. 
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27 DIVIDENDS 
In 2020, the Corporation declared dividends of $167.2 million or $1.50 per share ($158.0 million or $1.50 per share in 2019).

DIVIDEND REINVESTMENT PLAN (DRIP)

Under the DRIP, the holders of common shares may elect to have cash dividends reinvested into additional common shares. 
The shares to be delivered can be purchased on the open market or issued from treasury at the discretion of Management. 
The shares issued from treasury can be issued at a discount of up to 5.0% of the applicable average market price. 

Following the payment of dividends declared on November 5, 2019, February 26, 2020 May 6, 2020 and August 5 2020, 
$76.1 million was reinvested in 895,995 common shares under the DRIP during the year ended December 31, 2020. 

Subsequent to the end of the year, on January 15, 2021, $23.0 million of the fourth quarter dividend was reinvested in 191,665 
additional common shares under the DRIP.

28 STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, NET OF BANK OVERDRAFT
As at 2020 2019

$ $

Cash on hand and with banks  437.1  255.6 
Less: Bank overdraft (note 24)  (2.4)  (18.3) 
Cash and cash equivalents, net of bank overdraft  434.7  237.3 

Cash disbursed related to acquisition made prior to January 1, 2019 amounted to $14.2 million ($6.2 million in 2019, related to 
acquisitions made prior to January 1, 2018).

ADJUSTMENTS

For the years ended December 31 2020 2019
$ $

Depreciation, amortization and impairment  476.3  482.4 
Share of earnings of associates and joint-ventures, net of tax  (18.2)  (12.3) 
Defined benefit pension scheme expense  10.6  8.5 
Cash contribution to defined benefit pension schemes  (13.1)  (12.6) 
Foreign exchange and non-cash movements  (11.3)  1.8 
Other  (27.6)  (32.4) 

 416.7  435.4 
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CHANGE IN NON-CASH WORKING CAPITAL ITEMS

For the years ended December 31 2020 2019
$ $

Decrease (increase) in:
Trade, prepaid and other receivables  141.0  (11.0) 
Costs and anticipated profits in excess of billings  37.0  33.0 

Increase (decrease) in:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  98.5  9.3 
Billings in excess of costs and anticipated profits  77.0  (60.4) 

 353.5  (29.1) 

CHANGES IN LIABILITIES ARISING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Long-term debt Lease liabilities

Dividends 
payable to 

shareholders Total 
$ $ $ $

Balance as at January 1, 2019  1,524.7  —  39.2  1,563.9 
Changes from financing cash flows  (96.6)  (213.7)  (77.6)  (387.9) 
Adoption of IFRS 16 - January 1, 2019  —  1,189.7  —  1,189.7 
Addition through business acquisitions  26.8  11.8  —  38.6 
New leases  —  89.3  —  89.3 
Foreign exchange rate adjustments  (55.2)  (26.5)  —  (81.7) 
Other non-cash changes  —  —  78.1  78.1 
Balance as at December 31, 2019  1,399.7  1,050.6  39.7  2,490.0 

Changes from financing cash flows  (857.1)  (255.4)  (88.3)  (1,200.8) 
Addition through business acquisitions  13.9  26.0  —  39.9 
New leases, renewals, modifications  —  182.0  —  182.0 
Net repayment of bank overdraft  (15.9)  —  —  (15.9) 
Foreign exchange rate adjustments  5.3  15.2  —  20.5 
Other non-cash changes  28.3  —  91.1  119.4 
Balance as at December 31, 2020  574.2  1,018.4  42.5  1,635.1 
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29 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL

Key management includes the Board of Directors, the President and Chief Executive Officer and the members of the GLT. The 
following table shows the compensation paid or payable to key management included in personnel costs for the years ended 
December 31:

2020 2019
$ $

Short-term employee benefits  15.5  17.7 

Share-based awards  14.4  13.2 
 29.9  30.9 

JOINT VENTURES AND ASSOCIATES

The Corporation related parties include its joint ventures and associates. Refer to note 14, Trade and other receivables, and 
note 22, Accounts payables and accrued liabilities, for balances receivable and payable from and to these entities.

30 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

The Corporation currently faces legal proceedings for services performed in the normal course of its business. The 
Corporation defends such proceedings and adopts appropriate risk management measures to resolve and prevent such 
proceedings. Furthermore, the Corporation secures general and professional liability insurance in order to manage the risks 
related to such proceedings. Based on advice and information provided by its legal advisors and on its experience in the 
resolution of similar proceedings, Management believes that the Corporation has accounted for sufficient provisions in that 
regard and that the final outcome should not exceed the insurance coverage significantly or should not have a material 
effect on the financial position or operating results of the Corporation. The claims provision recognized as at December 31, 
2020 amounted to $188.9 million ($123.4 million as at December 31, 2019). The movements in this provision are described in 
note 23, Provisions. 

REGULATORY INVESTIGATION AND ACTION

As a government contractor, the Corporation may be subject to laws and regulations that are more restrictive than those 
applicable to non-government contractors. Government scrutiny of contractors’ compliance with those laws and regulations 
through audits and investigations is inherent in government contracting, and, from time to time, Management receives 
inquiries and similar demands related to the Corporation's ongoing business with government entities. Violations could 
result in civil or criminal liabilities as well as suspension or debarment from eligibility for awards of new government 
contracts or option renewals.

On December 27, 2019, over 100 plaintiffs filed suit in the US District Court for Washington, DC against a number of US 
government contractors, including The Louis Berger Group Inc. and Louis Berger International Inc. (collectively, “LB”), 
alleging that they had violated the Anti-Terrorism Act by making payments to private security firms with knowledge that 
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those firms were affiliated with the Taliban. While this lawsuit is in its preliminary stage, the Corporation believes that LB 
has a strong defense to offer and it intends to vigorously defend the allegations.

31 SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
On December 2, 2020, WSP entered into an arrangement agreement (the "Arrangement Agreement") providing for the 
acquisition of all of the issued and outstanding shares of Enterra Holdings Ltd., the holding company of Golder Associates 
(“Golder”). Under the terms of the Arrangement Agreement, WSP will acquire Golder for an aggregate cash consideration of 
US$1.14 billion (approximately $1.5 billion). On January 13, 2021, the approval of the shareholders of Golder was obtained 
and the acquisition is expected to be completed in the first half of the second quarter of 2021.

On January 14, 2021, the Corporation closed a private placement subscription receipt financing. The Corporation issued an 
aggregate of 3,333,898 subscription receipts (the “Subscription Receipts”) from treasury at a price of $92.98 per Subscription 
Receipt by way of a private placement to each of GIC Pte. Ltd. (“GIC”) and British Columbia Investment Management 
Corporation (“BCI”), for aggregate gross proceeds of approximately $310 million (the “Private Placements”). Upon 
completion of the acquisition, each of GIC and BCI will receive one common share of WSP for each Subscription Receipt held, 
plus an amount per common share equal to any dividend payable by WSP on the common shares between the date of 
issuance of the Subscription Receipts and the closing of the acquisition. 

On January 29, 2021, the Corporation entered into credit facilities for a new US$960 million (approximately C$1.2 billion) 
fully committed bank financing with up to a 4-year tenor.

WSP will use the proceeds of the Private Placements and funds available under the new credit facilities to fund a portion of 
the purchase price and related transaction costs payable in connection with the acquisition of Golder.
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